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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

THE CONFEDERATED TR IBES OF THE
GRAND RONDE COMMUNITY OF
OREGON, et al.,

Civil Action No. 13-849BJR)
Plaintiff s,
MEMORANDUM OPINION
V.

SALLY JEWELL ,etal.,

Defendans.

DENYING PLAINTIFFS" MOTION SFOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT; GRANTING
DEFENDANTS' CROSSMOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

[. INTRODUCTION

This consolidated actidrarises under the Administrative Procedure @&d?A), 5 U.S.C.
8§ 551et seq, the Indian Reorganization Act (IRA), 25 U.S.C. § 46%eq, the Indian Gaming
Regulatory Act (IGRA), 25 U.S.C. § 27@1 seq. and the National Environmental Policy Act
(NEPA), 42 U.S.C. § 4324t seq.Plaintiffs challengehe Secretary of the Department of
Interior’s decision to acquire and hold in tragproximatelyl52 acres in Clark County,
Washingtorfor the Cowlitz Indian Tribe, the Inteevor-Defendant Plaintiffs further challenge
the Secretary’s decisido allowgaming orthatland,and dispute whether the Secretary has
complied withNEPA'’s requirementsBefore the Court are the parties’ cramstions for
summary judgmentHaving considered the record herein together with the parties’ threefs
Court denies the Plaintiffs’ motisrfor summary judgment and grants the Defendants’ motions

for summary judgment. The Court’s reasoning follows:

! Civil Action No. 13-849 and Civil Action No. 13-850 were consolidated on July 18, 2013.
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II. BACKGROUND
A. Legal Framework

The Secretary’s decision was arriugabn consideration of a complex combination of
statutes, procedures, and regulations, a brief description of which follows:

1. Indian Reorganization Act of 1934

“The IRA was designed to improve the economic status of Indians by ending the
alienation of tribal land and facilitating tribes’ acquisition of additional acreaageepurchase
of former tribal domains. Native people were encouraged to organize or reorgdhindoad
structures similar to modern business corporations.” 1-1 Cohen’s Handbook of Fediaral |
Law 8§ 1.05. “The overriding purpose of [the IRA] was to establish machinery whiedibg
tribes would be able to assume a greater degree of self-government, both pditidally
economically.” Morton v. Mancari, 417 U.S. 535, 542 (1974).

Among other things, the IRA provides the Secretary with the authority Guarac. . .
any interest in lands . . . for the purpose of providing land for Indians.” 25 U.S.C. § 465. “Title
to any lands . . . acquired pursuant to [the IRA] . .. shall be taken in the name of the United
States in trust for the Indian tribe or individual Indian for which the land is acqamdduch
lands . . . shall be exempt from State and local taxatitwh.Lands taken in trust by the United
Stakes can be designated as part of an Indian Tribe’s reservédicn 467.

Section 19 of the IRA defines “Indian” to includeter alia, “all persons of Indian
descent who are members of any recognized Indian tribe now under Fededaitions Id. §
479. While the IRA does not elaborate on what it means to be a “recognized Indian tribe now
under Federal jurisdiction,” the Supreme Court recently interpthéeghrasénow under

Federal jurisdiction.” In doing so it reasoned that when Congress ftefa tribe that was “now



under federal jurisdictighit used the word “now” to mean the date that the IRA was enacted,
which was 1934 Carcieri v. Salazar555 U.S. 379, 382 (2009).

2. Federal Acknowledgment Process

In 1978, theDepartment of Interioestablished a “departmental procedure and policy for
acknowledging that certain American Indian groups exist as tribes.” 2B.&@B3.2.This
process was “intended to apply to groups that can establish a substantiafiyaasttibal
existence and which have functioned as autonomous entities throughout history until the
present.”ld. 8§ 83.3. Such acknowledgment was necessary to receive “the protection, services,
and benefits of the Federal government available to Indiars toyp@irtue of their status as
tribes,” as well as “the immunities and privileges available to other fegackhowledged
Indian tribes by virtue of their governmetiotgovernment relationship with the United States.”
Id. 8§ 83.2. An Indian tribe acknowledged under this procedure would “subject the Indian tribe to
the same authority of Congress and the United States to which other fedduwadiywlacged
tribes are subjected.Id.

The Regulations specifigte criteria that a the must demonstrate to achieve Federal
acknowledgmentld. § 83.7-83.8. Among other requiremente tribe must have been
“identified as an American Indian entity on a substantially continuous bases1€900,” anch
“predominant portion” of the tribmust“comprise[]a distinct communityand must have
“existed as a community from historical times until the presddt.8 83.7(a)).

3. Indian Gaming Regulatory Act of 1988

Like the IRA, he IGRAwas enacted in large paot promote tribal economic
development, self-sufficiency, and strong tribal governmer§ U.S.C. § 2702(1). To this

end, the IGRA provided “a statutory basis for the operation of gaming byltribas.” 25



U.S.C. § 2702(%)see alscCitizens Exposing Truth About Casinos v. Kempthot@2 F.3d 460,
462 (D.C. Cir. 2007) The IGRAgenerally prohibits Indian gaming on lands acquired after
October 17, 1988. 25 U.S.C. § 2719owever, there are exceptions.

Of particularrelevance here, the IGR#llows gaming if “lands are taken into trust as part
of . .. (ii) the initial reservation of an Indian tribe acknowledged by the Sectetder the
Federal acknowledgment process, or (iii) the restoration of lands for am lindbie that is
restored to Federal recognitionid. 8§ 2719(b)(1)(B).For brevity, these exceptions are referred
to herein as the “initial reservation” exception and the “restored lands” excegspectively

4. National Environmental Policy Act

NEPA requires federal agencies to issue an Environmental Impact Sta{ehsyrior
any“major Federal action significantly affecting the quality of the human environment.” 42
U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C). The EIS must discusdetail inter alia, “(i) the envionmental impact of
the proposed actiofij) any adverse environmental effects which cannot be avoided should the
proposal be implementedrid (iii) alternatives to the proposed actiond:

Because the NEPA process “involves an almost endless skjiglgment calls . . . [t]he
line-drawing decisions . . . are vested in the agencies, not the co@dalition on Sensible
Transp., Inc. v. Dole826 F.2d 60, 66 (D.C. Cir. 1987). Therefore, the “role of the courts is
simply to ensure that the agerttys adequately considered and disclosed the environmental
impact of its actions and that its decision is not arbitrary or capricidtisy’of Olmsted Falls,
Ohio v. Fed. Aviation Admin292 F.3d 261, 269 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (citiBgltimore Gas & Elec.

v. Natural Res. Def. Counc#l62 U.S. 87, 97-98 (1983)).



B. Factual & Procedural Background

The Cowlitz Indian Tribe (hereinafter, Cowlitz or Tribe) is the successoterest of the
Lower Cowlitz and the Upper Cowlitz Bands of Southwestern Washington. The Tribeshas be
without land since President Lincoln signed a proclamation in 1863 that opened the Cowlitz
lands in southwest Washington to nioigian settlementA.R. 820Q A.R. 14048762; Fed. Reg.
8,983-01 (Feb. 27, 1997).

In 20022 the Department of Interidederally acknowledged th@owlitz afterfinding
thatthe Tribe hadexisted asn Indian entity on a substantially continuous basis sinEast
1878-80 andhat it hadsatisfied the criteria set forth in 25 C.F.R. part 83. 67 Fed. Reg. 607 (Jan.
4, 2002); 65 Fed. Reg. 8,436 (Feb. 18, 2000). Immediately upon reca&derglif
acknowledgment, the Cowlitz submitted an application requesting th&etnetaryake into
trust 151.87 acres of land in Clark County, Washingtaneinafter, “the Parcel”) and declare it
the Tribe’s “initial reservationuinder the IRA. A.R. 140382T'he Tribe claimed its purpose was
to “create a federallprotected land base on which the Cowlitz Indian Tribe can establish and
operatea tribal government headquarters to provide housing, health care, education and other
governmental services tsitnembers, and conduct the economic development necessary to fund
these tribal government programs, provide employment opportunities for its nseanetallow
the Tribe to become economically sslffficient.” A.R. 140383. To further that goaleth
Cowlitz Tribe, currently landless, intendis develop the Parcéb establish 20,000 square feet of
tribal government offices, sixteen elder housing units, a 12,000 square foot tribal celtdea

and a casinoesort complexonsisting of 134,150 square feet of game floor; 355,225 square feet

2 The Federal acknowledgment was first issued in February 2000, but thairdeeis

reconsidered and reaffirmed on January 4, 2002. 67 Fed. Reg. 607 (Jan. 4, 2002).



of restaurant and retail facilities and public space; 147,500 square feet of comaeatimulti-
purpose space; and an eight story 250-room hotel. BIA ROD at 2, 115.

A tribe must seek approval foasinestylegambling from the National Indian Gaming
Commission (NIGC), an independent federal regulatory agerthin the Department of
Interior. 25 U.S.C. § 2706. In August 200% tbowlitzsubmitted its proposed tribal gaming
ordinancefor review, whichthe NIGCeventuallyapproved. A.R. 8193.

As part ofthe tribal ganmg ordinance review procesbetNIGCissued an opinion in
November 2005 which fourtthatthe Parcel qualifie for IGRA’s ‘restored landsxception to
the general prohibition on gamingd. More specifically NIGC concluded that “the Cowlitz
Tribe is a restored tribe and that if the United States Department of Intereptatoe [Parcel]
into trust for the Tribe, such trust acquisition will qualify as the “restoratidanals” within the
meaning of the [IGRA].”A.R. 008195. For the Cowlitz to be considered an “Indian Tribe that
is restored to Federal recognition,” as that term is used in IGRA, the Covditp h@monstrate
“a history of 1) government recognition; 2) a period of non-recognition; arari¥tatement of
recognition.” A.R. 008198The NIGCconcludedhat the Federal governmedmadrecognized
the Cowlitz during the latter half of the 1800s and then “did not recognize the Combbizak a
governmental entity from at least the early 1900s until 2002,” at which peifiribe received
formal Federal acknowledgmennder 25 C.F.R. part 83. A.R. 008199.

The NIGCexplicitly noted inits November 2005 opinion théthe Secretary accepted
the Parcel into her trust, the Department of Interior cpuddlaim theParcel to be the Tribe

initial reservation.According to the NIGC,[&a]n ‘initial reservation proclamationould provide



a second basis by which the [P]arcel would qualify as Indian lands on which the Tritbe coul
conduct gaming.®> A.R. 8195.

The Tribe’s applicatioto take the Parcel into fedetalist prompted the NEPA process.
The Bureau of IndiaAffairs issued alraft Envronmental Inpact Statement (EIS) concerning
the proposed actions surrounding the Parcel. After a period of public contimedintal EIS
was isued on May 30, 2008. AR14037/5768-76440.

In April 2013, the Secretary of the Department of the Interior (hereinafter, Secretary)
through her designee, the Assistant Secretary of Indian Affairs isdRecoad of Decision
(“ROD” or “the decision”) accepting the Parcel into trastl declaring that gaming would be
allowed on the landSpecifically, the Secretadetermined that the Parcel qualified for gaming
under IGRA’s “initial reservation” exceptidio the general ban on gaming. A.R.140494-518.
The ROD did not discuss whether the Parcel would qualify under 1&Réstored lands”
exception

Plaintiffs are entities and individuals who, for varying reasons, oppose the cbostaic
the Cowlitz casingesort complex. The first action was brought by Plaintiff ConfederatedsIrib
of the Grand Ronde Community of Oregon (“Grand Ronde”) which @ndsoperates a casino
that would compete with any future casino built on the Parcel. The second agibrowght

by Clark County, Washington, the City of Vancouver, homeowners and community ms@mbe

3 At the time of the NIGG ruling, atribe could obtain both &lIGC finding of restored lands and

still have their reservation declared their initial reseoratiln 2008, e regllations were amendesh
that a tribe can no longer avalil itself of both the restored lan@ptanand the initial reservation
exception. 25 C.F.R. § 292.6 (Aug. 25, 2008).

4 The Secretary first issued a Record of Decision in 2010 and a lawsuihmeasliatelyfiled
challenging that decisiorSeeConfederated Tribes of the Grand Ronde Community of Oregon v. Salazar
et al, Civil Action No. 11-284. While that lawsuit was pending, in 2012, the Secretasgdeand
supplemented her 2010 decision. Because the Secretary lacked the authgpipjeimest the 2010

Record of Decision while a lawsuit was ongoing, this Court instructedyéreg to rescind the 2010
Decision and issue a new decision within sixty ddgsDkt. # 83, Order (March 13, 2013).



the area surrounding the Parcel, and specific businesses (clubs and ca)dtmabmould also
be forced to compete with the future casino (collectively, Clark County Pla)ntiff

Plantiffs argue that the Secretary violated the APA and NEBRecifically, Plaintiffs
challenge: (1) the decision to apt into federal trust the Parcel pursuant to Section 5 of the
Indian Reorganization Act of 1934 (IRA), 25 U.S.C. § 46%eq (2) the decision to allow the
Cowlitz to conduct gaming activities on the Parcel once the Secretary has atice péedl into
trust; and (3}he Secretarg compliance with the NERA

[I. STANDARDSOF REVIEW

The APA irstructs the reviewing court to “hold unlawful and set aside agency action,
findings, and conclusions found to be . . . arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or
otherwise not in accordance with law.” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(®)e stadard of review is narrow,
and “[t]he court is not empowered to substitute its judgment for that of the dgefitigens to
Pres. Overton Park, Inc. v. Volp401 U.S. 402, 416 (1971), abrogated on other grounds by
Califano v. Sanders130 U.S. 99, 104 (1977).

Whenreviewing the substance of an agency’s intetgtion of a lav it administers, the
coutt mustapply the pinciples ofChewon U.S.A. Inc. v. Natural Resauss Defense Couilg
Inc., 467 U.S. 837 (1984)Under Chewon, the first sep beins with thestatute. The cour
mustexamine thestatuteto deeminewhether Congesshas spoken directly to thequise
question aisste. Natural Res. Def. Couirlov. EPA 643 F.3d 311, 322(C. Cir. 2011). Such
an exaninationrequires thecourt to use “the traditional tools situtory interpretation—text,
structure, purpose, and leglative histary.” ConsumeElecs. Asé v. FCC, 347 F.3d 291, 297
(D.C. Cir. 2003) (quoting?harm. Research & 8. of Am. v. Thompso251 F.3d 219, 224

(D.C. Cir. 200)). If the cout determines thet Congess fas directly spoken to thequiseisste,



that is theend of the analys, “f or the court, awell as the agency, must giedfed to the
unambiguously exessed intent of Congess” Chewon, 467 U.S. at 842-43.

If the statuteis “silent or ambiguous withesped to thespedfic isswe,” then the cour
procedals to the smond step ofChewon. Chevron 467 U.S. at 843. The cdunust éttermine
whether the agencgresponse to the questiohiasuels ressonable and based on empissible
construction of thetatute. Id. If the agency prodes areasonable ietpretation of thestatute,
the cout must ekferto theagency’s intpretation. Am.Library Assn v. FCC, 406 F.3d 689,
699 O.C. Cir. 2005). The agency’s erpretdion neal not be “the only pasble interpretation,
nor even the interptation ceemedmostreasonable by the courts.Entergy Corp. v.
Riverkeeper, InG.556 U.S. 208, 218 (20099mphasis in aiginal). Moreo\er, “a cout may not
substitutats own construction of statutory provision for a reasonable integation made by
the alministrator of an agency."Chevron 467 U.S. at 844. The court igrincipally concerned
with ensuring that [the Agency] hasxamine[d] the relevant data and articulate[d] a
satisfactory explanation for its action including a rational connection betWedacts found
and the choice made,’ that the Agencylecision was based on a consal®n of the relevant
factors,’and that the Agency has made alear error of judgmerit. Bluewater Network v.
EPA 370 F.3d 1, 11 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (quotintptor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass of U.S., Inc. v. State
Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Cp463 U.S. 29, 43 (1983)).

Finally, when interpreting an ambiguous statutory provision involving Indian affas, “
governing canon of construction requires that statutes are to be construely libéaaibr of the
Indians, with ambiguous provisions interpreted to their bene@ial. Valley Miwok Tribe v.
United States515 F.3d 1262, 1266 n.7 (D.C. Cir. 2008)owever the Indian canon of

construction desnot apply for the benefit of one tribe if its application would adversely affect



the interests of another trib€onfederated Tribes of Chehalis Indian Reservation v.
Washington96 F.3d 334, 340 (9th Cir. 1996).
Il . ANALYSIS

A. The Secretay Did Not Violate the APA in Concluding that thelRA Authorizes Her
to Acquire the Parcel in Trust for the Cowlitz

Plaintiffs argue thathe Secretary lacks the authority to acquire land in trust for the
Cowlitz because theibe isneither “recognizedhor “under Federal jurisdictionds required by
Section 19 of the IRA. Clark Cty Mot. at 9; Grand Ronde Mot. aEB8rthermoreClark
CountyPlaintiffs maintain thathe Tribe’s membership expansiance itsFederal
acknowledgmentiolatedfederal regulations, and, therefore, the Secretatgtision to acquire
the land in trust is void. Clark Cty Mot. at 9. In this section, the Court analyzpaities’
positions regardingl) whether the Cowlitz are a “recognized” Indian €rif2) whether the
Cowlitz are an Indian Tribe “now under Federal jurisdictiand lastly, (3) whether the
Secretary violated the pertinent regulations by not reviewing Cowlitzsbeeship numbers.

1. Recognition

a. The Secretary’s Decision

As described earlier, the IRA authorizes the Secretary to acquire langtifor
“Indians,” a term which is defined in Section 19 of the IRA to includey alia, “members of
any recognized Indiammibe now under Federal jurisdiction.” 25 U.S.C. § 4T@e Secretary
decisiondetermined thathe Cowlitz was “recognized” under the IRROD 87-89. Te
Secretary reasondhat the term “recognized” had historically been used in two distinct senses:
(1) the “cognitive” or “quasanthropological” sense, under which an official “simply knew or
realized that an Indian tribe existed,” and (2) “the more formal or ‘jutisdi&l’ sense to

connote that a tribe is a governmental entity comprised of Indians and that théanatunique

10



relationship with théJnited States.” ROD at 87 (A.R. 140468). The formal or jurisdictional
sense of recognition, the Secretary explaieedlved into the modern notion of “federal
recognition” or “federal acknowledgment” in the 1970s, and eventually repndatistablished
procedures pursuant to which an entity could demonstrate its status as an Indidd.tribe.

Ultimately, however, the Secretary did not “reach the question of the prezaseng of
‘recognized Indian tribe.””ld. at 89. The Secretary reasoned thdtatever the precise meaning
of the term ‘recognized tribe,’ the date of federal recognition does not dféeSetrety’s
authority under the IRAbecauséthe IRA imposes no time limit upon recognition,” and “the
tribe need only be ‘recognized’ astbé time the Department acquires the land into trust.”
The Secretary concluded that the Cowlitz tribe had been “recognized” since a0@ast/Ben
it received federal acknowledgmeand therefore it satisfied the recognition requiremént.

b. Parties’ arguments

Plaintiffs argue thathe phrase “now under Federal jurisdiction,” (which urCarcieri
strictly refers to tribes under jurisdiction in 1934) modifies the phrase “recognized Intm t
andboth phraseshould baemporally limited tal934. In other words, Plaintiffs contend that
tribe must have been not only “under federal jurisdiction” in 1934 but‘edéeognized”in 1934
to qualify as an “Indian Tribe” under Section 10lark Cty Mot. at 10; Grand Ronde Mot. at 9.
Plaintiffs point tothe plain text as well dsgislative historyto support thathe term
“recognized” refer®nly to tribes “enrolled” in 1934. Grand Ronde Mot. at 10; Clark Cty Mot.
at12-13. Lastly, Plaintiff Grand Rondggues thateading theohrase “recognized Indian tribe”
in the context othe IRAas a wholesupportghat Congress intended the term “recognized” to

meantribes recognized in 1934. Grand Ronde Mot. at 10.

11



Defendang, unsurprisinglymaintain that th&ecretaryeasonably construed an
ambiguous statutory term when she decidedtheate is no temporal limitation on recognition
and, therefore, the Court should defer to her interpretation. Gov't Mot; @o2itz Mot. at
30.

c. Carcieri v. Salazar

The Supreme Court explained@arcieri v. Salazar555 U.S. 379 (2009)hat the phrase
“now under Federal jurisdiction” meant that a tribe had to be under federdigtios in 1934,
the year the IRA was passed, in order to qualify under Section 19's definition @frilhdiess
clear was whether an Indian Tribe also had to be “recognized” in 1934 to qsdiihdan”
under Section 19. e Carcieri majority makes no attempt to interpret what the word
“recognized” means, and instead conediself solelywith the interpretation of the phrase “now
under Federal jurisdiction.Seeid. at 382 (holding that “§ 479 limits the Secretary’s authority to
taking land into trust for the purpose of providing land to members of a tribe that was under
federal juisdiction when the IRA was enacted in June 1934ad theCarcieri majority
believed that an Indian tribe needed to be recognized as of 1934, it could have easilyrghid so a
made that part afs holding However, the majority chose rotfollow thatcourse, anéhstead
held only that the phrase “now under federal jurisdiction” médpessthat wereunder federal
jurisdiction n 1934. By ignoring the concept of recognition altogetherCtmeieri opinion in
no way supports Plaintiffs’ position that the term recognized should be read in camjumith
the phrase “now under federal jurisdiction.”

Indeed, tk only discussion of theerm “recognizedin Carcieri directly contradicts
Plaintiffs’ argumens. In his concurrence, Justice Breyer expldiretrecognition and

jurisdictionmay be treated as two separate concepts andthat&ection 19imposes no time

12



limit upon recognition.”Id. at 399. Additionally, Justice Souter and Ginsbuagreel with
Justice Breyer thdfn]othing in the majority opinion forecloses the possibility that the two
concepts, recognition and jurisdiction, may be given separate coaterthat “the [IRA]
imposes no time limit upon recognitiénid. at 400(Souer, dissenting). Accordingly, the
Carcieri majority opinion desnot supporthattheterm*“recognizetiin Section 19
unambiguously refers ontp tribes recognizeds 0f1934. Moreover, the viewexpressedtby
Justces Breyer, Souter and Ginsburg support thaheatvery leastSection 19 is ambiguous
regardingwhether a tribe must be “recognized” as of 1934 in order for its members ty @qsalif
“Indians.”
d. Plain Text

Plaintiffs urge that Section 19's plain text demonstrates that the term “reedreters
to tribes recognized in 1934. Plaintiffs analogize to hypothetical statutegiotaat a tribe
cannot be a “recognized Indian tribe now under Federal jurisdiction” in 1934 if hatas
“recognized Indian tribe” in 1934. Grand Ronde’s Mot. at 10. For instance, Plaintiffs liken
Section 19 to a statute that applies to any state resident practicing medicine ithd1934.
Plaintiffs conclude that this hypotheticstatute should not cover an individual who was
practicing medicine in 1934 mforeign country, but only became a state resident many years
later. Id. Likewise, Plaintiffs argue, Section 19 should not cover a tribe who was under federal
jurisdictionin 1934 but that was only recognized in recent yddrs.

While at first blush such comparisons seem appealing, they ultimateiy fefsuade the
Court. The danger in analogizing to such selectively crafted hypothetitgtkstis a point aptly
mack by Defendants’ hypothetical statute proffered in response—a statute thdeprhoenefits

to any certified veteran wounded in 1934. Def. Govt’s Reply at 12 n11. Such a thatute,

13



Government observes, could reasonably be interpreted to cover vetbareceived
certification after 1934, even if the veteran must have been wounded as of 1934. Arguably,
recognition of an Indian tribe, like certification of a wounded veteran, is a statusan be
conferred years after the tribe has been under figdesdiction. Cf. Regions Hosp. v. Shalala
522 U.S. 448, 458 (1998) (agreeing with the D.C. Circuit that the phrase “recognized as
reasonable” in the Medicare Act “by itself, does not tell us whether Congress taeafer the
Secretary to action alaey taken or to give directions on actions about to be taken” and,
therefore,'might mean costs the Secretary (1) has recognized as reasonable . . . ,ilbr (2) w
recognize as reasonable . . . ."Accordingly, the Court rejects Plaintiffs’ resuttsented
approach and their contention that the text of Section 19 unambiguously requires i@tagnit
of 1934.
e. Legislative History

The ambiguity of the statutory term “recognizad’further confirmed by a review of
Section 19'degislative history The Senate’s Committee on Indian Affairs discussed Section
19's definition of “Indian® during both the April 28, 1934 and May 17, 1934 hearings. A.R.
135115. At the April 28" hearing, SenatdElmerThomas of Oklahoma expressed concern that
in the past “wlken an Indian was divested of property and money” he was legally no longer
considered an Indian ands a resulthumerous Indians have gone from under the supervision
of the Indian Office.”ld. The following colloquy resulted between tiemmissioner ofndian
Affairs, John Collier, and Senator Thomas:

Commissioer.  This bill provides that any Indian who is a member of a recognized
tribe or band shall be eligible to Government aid.

° At the time of these discussions, the proposed Section 19 defined “Indianttteiria relevant

part, “all persons of Indian descent who are members of any recognized Irmban tfiand did not
include the “now under federal jurisdiction” requiremt. A.R. 135269.

14



Senator ThomasWithout regard to whether or not [the Indianh@vunder your
supervision?

Commissioner:  Without regard; yes. It definitely throws open Governnietat ai
those rejected Indians.

A.R. 135115 (emphasis added)his discussion among the Committee suggebtseforethat
the term‘recognizedribe” includes Indians who were not under the Indian Bureau’s supervision
in 1934°

However, only a&ouple ofweeks later, o May 17, 1934another exchange took place
between th&€ommitteemembers suggestingst theopposite. Snator Thomas expressed
concern that only tribe members “under the authority of the Indian Office’dWamitovered
under the IRA, and “the polidpf the Indian Office] was not to recognize Indians except those
already under authority.” A.R. 135298. Senator Thomas viewed the proposed act as excluding

“roaming bands of Indians” that were “not registered,” “not enrolled,” and “notrggpd.” 1d.

The Chairman of the Committee, Senator Burton Wheeler, responded to Senator’'s Thoma
concern by eplaining that,"[0] f course, this bill is being passed, as a matter of fact, to take care
of the Indians that are taken care of at the present tilde.Senator Wheeler later explained his

view thatthe IRA should notover“Indians of less than half blood,” “unless they are enrolled at

the present time.” A.R. 135298-135299.
Thus, in contrast to the April 2&liscussion, ta May 17" dialoguesupports the notion a

“recognized Indian tribe” meara tribethat as of 1934 as “enrolled,” “taken care of” amder

the supervision of the Government. “The only conclusion that [the Court] can safeljyrdm

6 Such a definition of recognition that includes Indians not under supervision inti®3dlys

undermines Plaintiffs’ position that “recognized Indian tribe” refers besrthat the United States had
formally acknowledged in a “jusdictional or political sense” as of 1934. Clark Cty Mot. at 14-15; PI.
Grand Ronde at 18.

15



these seemingly contradictory passages is that ‘the little legislative histbexista for [Section
19] is as ambiguas as the statute itselfCounty of Los Angeles v. Shalal®2 F.3d 1005, 1015
(D.C. Cir. 1999) (quotingpeaf Smith County Grain Processors, Inc. v. Glickni&?2 F.3d
1206, 1212 (D.C. Cir. 1998)).
f. Statutory Context

Finally, Plaintiff GrandRonde argues th#te term “recognized” iits statutorycontext
supports thait unambiguously refers to tribes recognired934. Grand Ronde Mot. at 11.
Grard Ronde points to language in Section 19 and Section 18 to bolster this argument.

Section 19 includes three definitions of Indian, two of which are relevant to Plaintiff
Grand Ronde’s argument.h@ first discussed at length above, includes “all persons of Indian
descent who are members of any recognized Indian tribeinder Federglrisdiction” 25
U.S.C. 8§ 479. Section 19's second definition for Indian iredtall persons who are
descendants of such members who were, on June 1, 1934, residing within the present boundaries
of any Indian reservation.25 U.S.C. § 479Plaintiff Grand Ronde argues th#te Secretary’s
conclusion that a tribe can be ‘recognized’ some 70 years after 1934 is . . . imposstjiare
with section 19’s second definition of Indian,” because “[t]ribes ‘recognized’ in 2002 do not
have ‘descendantsVing on reservations in 1934.” Grand Ronde Mot. atsé#;alscClark Cty
at 12 n.5. However, some of the Cowhtembers reportedliywed on the Quinault Reservation
in 1934 despit¢éhe Cowlitz Tribe only receiving formal recognitiom 2002. Cowlitz Reply at 4
n.4. Arguably, thenhe descendants of theSewlitz tribal members who lived dhe Quinault
Reservation in 1934 would qualify under Section 19’s second definition of Indian. Accordingly
Section 19’s second definition of Indian is not incompatible WiéhSecretary’s interpretation

that“recognizedindian tribe” includes tribes recognized after 1934.

16



Similarly, the Couris notpersuaded that Section 18 poses a challenge to the Secretary’s
interpretatiorof “recognized. SeeGrande Ronds Mot. at 11. Section 18 states that the IRA
“shall not apply to any reservation wherein a majority of the adult Indians . Il vetesagainst
its application” in a special election called one year after the IRA’s passagppuadal. 25
U.S.C. § 478. Plaintiff Grand Ronde’s argument is based on the conclusadarbmermember
of this court that Section 18 “suggests that the IRA was intended to benefit onlyritieses |
federally recognized at the time of passageity of Sault Ste. Marie v. Andru832 F. Supp.

157, 161 n.6 (D.D.C. 1980)rellingly, however,the City of Sault Ste. Mari€ourt provides no
further analysis and ultimately holtsat“although the question of whether some groups
gualified as Indian tribes for purposes of IRA benefits might have been unclear in 198&iGttha
does not preclude the Secretary from subsequently determining that a dieateserved
recognition in 1934. . .because “[th hold otherwise would be to bind the governmenitby
eatier errors or omissions.Id. (finding that a 1972 Memorandum conferred recognition under
the IRA). Similarly, this Court does not view Section 18’s voting provisiomasmpatible with
an interpretation of Section 19 that allows for post-1934 recogtition.

g. Conclusion

For the above reasons, the Cdundls that the termrecognized’does not
unambiguously refer to recognition as of 1934, but rather is an ambiguous statutory term
Moreover, given the above discussion and Justice Breyer’'s concurrebagciari, this Court

finds the Secretary’s interpretation of the term “recognized” to be redsarabdefers to it.

! It is unclear to the Court whether Grand Ronde is suggesting that the IB% ooy members

and descendants of members of those reservations that could vote under Senti#848 iTo the
extent that Grand Ronde makes such an argument, the Court rejects é&.Gm/grnment points out,
tribes that were not permitted to vote under Section 18 because they did natrbagevation have
nevertheless organizeshder IRA. SeeA.R. 134256 (Haas Report).
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SeeCumberland Coal Res., LP v. Fed. Mine Safety & Health R&v@wm'n, 717 F.3d 1020,
1025 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (explaining that undénevron once thecourt determines that the statute
is ambiguouswith respect tdhe specific issughe court musdefer to the Secretary’
interpretationso long as it is reasonahle

2. “Under Federal Jurisdiction”

The Secretary’s legal authority acquire the Parcel in truatsorequires a finding that
the Cowlitz Tribe was‘under federal jurisdictionin 1934. 25 U.S.C. 8 47@arcieri, 555 U.S.
379 (2009).To determine whether the Cowlitz Tribe was “under federal jurisdiction” in 1934,
the Secretary developed a tparttest Plaintiffs argue thathe Secretary’sestviolated the
statutory text and legislative history of the IRA. Plaintiffs further arguetiieaSecretary’s
application of this twepart test to the Cowlitwas arbitrary and capricious.eBw, the Court
first describes the Secretary’s test and then turns to the parties’ spegifinents.

a. Secretary’s Two-Part Test

The Secretary developed a tpart inquiry to determine whether a tribe was under
federal jurisdiction in 1934.

The first part of this test is

whether the United States had, in 1934 or at some point in the tribe’s history prior

to 1934, takn an action or a series of actiehghrough a course of dealings or

other relevant acts for or on behalf of the tribe or in some instance tribal members

— that are sufficient to establish, or that generally reflect federal obligation

duties, responsibility for or authority over the tribe by the Federal Govatnme
Id. According to the Secretary, “some tribes may be able to demonstrate yhattieeunder

federal jurisdiction by showing that Federal Government officials undertoolligndike action

on behalf of the tribe, or engaged in a continuous course of dealings with the tribe.” A.R.
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140476. The Secretary aldeterminedhat evidence regarding “actions by the Office of Indian
Affairs” could satisfy this first stagdd.

The second part die Secretary’s test is “to ascertain whether the tribe’s jurisdictional
status remained intact in 1934ld. As part of this inquiry, the Secretary noted that “the Federal
Government’s failure to take any actions towards, or on behalf of a tribe @ypengicular time
period does not necessarily reflect a termination or a loss of the tribetiqgtios.” Id.

Similarly, the Secretary explained, “the absence of any probative evidence thatsa tri
jurisdictional status was terminated or lost ptmd934 would strongly suggest that such status
was retained in 1934.1d.

b. The Secretary’s TwoPart TestIs Entitled to Deference

Plaintiffs argue that the Secretary’s interpretation of “under féfersdiction”
contravenes the plain text of 8 4g9 well as its legislative historyirst, Plaintiffs contend that
the text of 8 479 does not alldive Secretaryo determine whether a tribe is “under federal
jurisdiction” by looking atle actions taken by the Fedegalvernment towardsdividualttribal
members For instance, Grand Ronthailts the Secretary for considering the fact that the
Federal government provided medical attention to individual Cowlitz Indians andedllow
individual Cowlitz Indians to attend BIA-operated schools. Grand Ronde Mot. &latiffs
insist that the statutory text requires 8eeretaryto focusexclusively on Federal actions taken
for the tribe as a whol®.Clark Cty Mot. at 16; Grand Ronde Mot. at 21.

Next, Plaintiffs argue that the Secretary’s intetption of “under federal jurisdiction”

contravenes legislative intent because Congress intended the “under fedshiakipm”

8 Clark County Plaintiffs also argue that the Secretary’s test is erretecause it allows the

Secretary to look at events occurripripr to 1934 to demonstrate that the tribe was under federal
jurisdiction in 1934. Clark Cty Mot. at 16. This argument ignores the fact thaé¢bad part of the
Secretary’s test directly asks whether the tribe remained urddsafgurisdiction in 1934. Accordingly,
the Court is not persuaded by this argument ajedtseit.
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requirement to narrow the tribal groups that qualify as Indians under § 479. Clark County
Plaintiffs contends that the Secretary’s interpretation does not allovinthgeg*under federal
jurisdiction” to act as a limiting factor since almost all tribes have members that “tetéwaith
or received benefits from the United States.” Clark Cty Mot. at 17. Similardyd3Ronde
further argues that § 479 should be interpreted as narrowing the types of tipa tyr only
those “tribes that were under ‘Government supervision and control™ in 1934, and faults the
Secretary for finding that “mere dealings” with a tribe and itsviddal tribal members would
suffice to show such supervision and control over a tribe. Grand Ronde Mot. at 28.

Defendants, for their part, insist the Secretary’s interpretation of “under Federal
jurisdiction” is a permissible construction of the IRA and informed by the ageegpertise in
Indian affairs, whictihey argueshould be given deference. Cowlitz Mot. at 14.

Section 479 defines Indiaas ‘members of any recognized Indian tribe now under
Federal jurisdiction.” 25 U.S.C. § 479hd Secretary acknowledged that the phrase “under
Federal jurisdiction” qualifies the term “recognized tribe.” A.R. 1404l parties agree then
that under 8 473hetribe, as opposed to its individuaembers, mudie under federal
jurisdiction. The statute does not, however, explain what it means for a tribe to be “under
Federal jurisdiction,” odescribe what type of evidence a féintler may consider in making
that analysis.Nothing in § 479 prohibitthe Secretary fromonsidering the relationship between
the Federal govament and individual Indianshendeterminingwhether the tribé&self was
under deral jurisdictionn 1934. Moreover, itrikes the Court as perfectigasonable for the
Secretaryo consider the relationship to the p@hie tribal membersyhen trying to assess the

relationship to the whol@he tribe) As such, the Court findbat the Secretary’s test did not
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violate the APA by considering the Federal government’s relationsiglividual tribal
members when ascertaining whether a tribe as a whole was “under federal jonsdict

The Court is similarly unpersuaded tha tegislative historyor 8 479renders the
Secretary’s test erroneous. According to the May 18, h83adngtranscript, he phrase “under
federal jurisdiction” was suggested by Commissiondhi&aftera colloquybetween Senator
O’Mahoney and ChairanWheeler. Chairman Wheeler expressed his concersdhae “so
called tribes’were composed of “white people essentialnd yetbecause they were “under
the supervision of the Government of the United States,” they would receive benefitthende
act. A.R. 135301. Senator O’Mahoney suggested in turn thabotinenitteeincludea separate
provision “excludingrom the benefits of the act certain types&d’ At this point, Commissioner
Collier proposed to add the phrase “now under Federal jurisdiction” after the worolgrizsx
Indian tribe.” Id. After this poposal, thénearingimmediately endednd the phrase is not
discussed any further.

This collaquy, as the Secretaryecisionnoted, is “ambiguous and confused.” A.R.
140475. 1 remainsentirely unclear what thiegislators meant bthe phraséunder Federal
jurisdiction.” While the legislative history suggests that the phrase “under federalgtiost
was added to narrow the types of tribes that qualify for benefits under thé IRAot cleaas

to what tribes the legislators intended to excldide.

o As noted, the Commissioner introduced the phrase “under federal junistintresponse to

Chairman Wheeler’s desire to exclude tribes that he felt were not sufficieditiy lalthough they were
still “under the supervision of the Govenent of the United States.” Thus, one may argue that a tribe
that was “under federal jurisdiction” was not necessarily “under the sejmerdf the Government.”
Such a conclusion, however, not only undermines Grand Ronde’s argument that “under federal
jurisdiction” means that the tribe “must be under the supervision and cointhel federal government,”
Grand Ronde Mot. at 20, but also contravenes the Secretary’s interpretétioder federal
jurisdiction,” which requires some level of federal swon. The Court notes this potential
interpretation only to further highlight that the legislative history isigudus and not helpful.
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Plaintiffs insist that the Secretary’s interpretation of “under federaldjgtion” defies
the legislative intentbecause “[v]irtually any tribal group will have members who have
interacted with or received benefits from the United Stat€$atk Cty Mot. at 17.But such an
argumenfalsely portrayshe Secretary’s test as one thatomatically grantSunder federal
jurisdiction’ statusonce a tribe can show that its members received felenafits and services
in 1934. This isa distortion of he test employed lthe Secretarywhich considers thiederal
services and benefits received by individual tribe memdrang other types of evidenand
asks ifthe evidence, whetaken as a whole, is “sufficietd establishor [] generally reflects
federal obligations, duties, responsibility for or authority over the tribe biyeteral
Government.” A.R. 140476.

In sum, the Court finds the legislative history to be exceedingly unhelpful, dkeg¢pt
confirms that the phrase “under federal jurisdiction” is indeed ambiguous ar@@hnabn
deference is requirel! Accordingly, the Court is not perswetithat the legislative history
renderghe Secretary’s test to be arbitrary, capricious or legal error.

c. The Secretary’s Application of the TwePart Test to the Cowlitz Tribe

In the Record of Decisionhé Secretary found that the United States’ 1855 treaty
negotiations with the Lower Band of Cowlitz Indians were “the first aa@ression that the
Cowlitz Tribe (or its predecessors) was under federal jurisdiction.” A.R. 140478. dpuspd
treaty cdled for the Cowlitz and the other tribes in the area to “cede all their claims toryerrito

covering much of the southwestern Washington in exchange for a single resetvéie

10 The ambiguity of the phrase is further corroborated by a memo written by tHstaAsSolicitor

of the Department of Interior and one of the primary drafters of thalil@tislation, Felix Cohen. In this
memo, Cohen observed that the Senate bill “limit[ed] recognized tribabership to those tribes ‘now
under Federal jurisdictiomnyhatever that may mednA.R. 140468. Based on his assessment, the
Solicitor's Office recommended deleting the phrase “under fedeisdlijction,” although that
recommendation was evidently rejected or ignored.
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provided later, most likely on the Pacific Oceaid. The Secretary deterined that although
the treaty negotiations failed, the government took the landag@dminimum, it demonstrates
that the Federal Government acknowledged responsibility for the Trilits medecessors).”
Id.

According to the Secretary, for approximately a decade after the tizabeg
negotiations, the Department of Interior recognized that Indian title to thét€swand had
never been properly ceded. In 1904, the Cowlitz “began a prolonged effort to obtaitidegisla
to bring a claim against the United States for thengakif their land.” A.R. 140481. And
althoughultimatelyunsuccessful, the Tribe received support from both the Special Indian Agent
who wastasked by the Department of Interior to review the claim and the $ogarintendent.

Id.

The Secretaryurther notes that from the miB50s until 1934, the Federal government
continued a “course of dealings” with t8ewlitz Tribe For instance, in 1868¢Heral officials
attempted to distribute goods and provisions to the Cowlitz Indians. A.R. 140479. In 1878, the
Federal government “deemed it necessary to formally acknowledge two indsvidumd ‘chiefs’
of the Lower and Upper Bands of the Cowlitz,” and communicated with the Tribe thtloese
individuals until 1912, when the chiefs dieldl. The Secretary also observes that the “local
Superintendent also enumerated the members of both bands and then listed themridgether i
year's statistical tabulatiohthereby demonstratiriginambiguous federal jurisdiction.” A.R.
140479.

The Secretary further states thia Federal government provided for the Cowlitz’'s
education and medical neefdsm the late 18 century andhis “continued into the 2B century”

A.R. 140479-140480. For instance, Cowlitz children attended schooktegpby the Bureau of
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Indian Affairs and the Department of Interior authorized money for “heaftices, funeral
expenses, or goods at a local store on behalf of Cowlitz Indians.” A.R. 140480. Moreover, the
Secretary notes that “[t]he local Indian Agg representatives repeatedly included Cowlitz
Indians as among those for whom they believed they had supervisory respassibitti For
instance, “during the 1920s the Superintendent of the Taholah Agency represententahts int
of the Cowlitz Tibe vis a vis state parties for purposes of Cowlitz Tribe’s fishing rights. In
1927, the Superintendent of the Taholah Agency clarified that “the Cowlitz band are under the
Taholah Agency,” and wrote that his jurisdiction includ®er alia “all those Indians belonging
to the . .. Cowlitz.”ld. The Superintendent also described his 1923 traveling expenses to
include travel to the reservations under his jurisdiction, which incltieetiCowlitz Reservation
located in the Cowlitz River Valley(even though the Cowlitz did nfdrmally have a
reservation).ld. A.R. 140480-140481.

Next, the Secretanyotesthatthe Federal government issugdiblic domain”allotments
to some Cowlitz Indians in the late 1800s and “took actions in support efdahesnents,” such
as supervising the sale of lands and protesting a tax sale of land held in trust. A.R. 140482-
140483. Some Cowlitz Indians also received allotments due to “the Act of March 4, 1911”
which directed the Secretaity make allotments to @mbers of tribes in the State of Washington
“who are affiliated with the Quinaielt and Quileute tribes.” A.R. 140483ts 1931 decision,
Halbert v. United Stateshe Supreme Court determined that the Cowlitz members were entitled
to such allotmentsld. (citing Halbert v. United State€£83 U.S. 753 (1931))The Secretary
points to the history of the Federal government granting allotments to the Qoeftitbers as

further evidence that the Tribe was “under federal jurisdiction” in 1934. A.R. 140484.
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Lasty, the Secretary considered as “important” evidence of jurisdiction, the tDegrdr
of Interior's 1932 approval of an attorney contract for the Cowlitz Tribe. Byd&arney
contracts between Indian tribes and attorneys had to be approved by the Comno$siatian
Affairs and the Secretary. Thus, the Superintendent from the Taholah Agencynivag the
Commissioner to observe meetings between the Cowlitz Tribe and the attorneysmviems b
bring claims on behalf of the Tribe agstinhe United States. Ultimately, the Commissioner and
Secretary’s First Assistant approved these attorney contrad®s.140484.

The Secretary, after her detailed and extensive historical resteeludes that “[a]ll of
this evidence, taken together, supports [the agency’s] conclusion that prior to and including 1934
the Cowlitz Tribe retained and did not lose its jurisdictional status as a tribe ‘fedéeal
jurisdiction.” A.R. 140484.

d. TheSecretary’s Application of the TwaPart Test to the Cowlitz Did Not
Violate the APA

According toPlaintiffs, the Secretary erreghen she founthat the Cowlitz Tribe was
“under federal jurisdictiondas a result of the failed treaty negotiatio@and Ronddlot. at 27;

Clark Cty at 1920. According to Plaintiffs][a] failed treaty could never serve to bring a tribe
under federal jurisdiction, because such failed negotiations create no ‘abigjatuties,
responsibility for or authority over the tribe’ by the United States.” k3Tdy Mot. at 20.

The CowlitzTribe argues in response that the treaty negotiations show that the Tribe was
under federal jurisdiction because, upiwe tribe’srefusal of the treaty’s termh)e United States
“exercised its ultimate jurisdiction simply dissolvinghe Tribe’s aboriginal titl¢to its land]
through an Executive Order.” Cowlitz Mot. at 18imilarly, the Government observes that the
Upper Chehalis and Chinook tribalsotook part in the saenfailed treaty negotiations as the

Cowlitz, and despite the unratified treaty, the Federal government assumed controéiover t
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tribal lands, “essentially treat[inghe land as ceded.” Govt's Replyaat4-5. The Government
concludeghat it “did notmatter whether these tribes entered into a ratified treaty because the
Federal government unilaterally asserted jurisdiction over the tribes anthtius regardless.”

Id. at 5.

As an initial matter,ite Court agrees that the failed treagégotiationglo not in and of
themselves, “establish, or . .. generally reflect federal obligations, desesnsibility for or
authority over the tribe by the Federal Government.” HowekierSecretaryelies on much
more than théailed treaty ngotiations to establish that the Cowlitabe was‘under federal
jurisdiction” in 1934. More specifically, the Secretary relies on the “course of dealings” that
came aftethose failed treaty negotiationse.g, the granting oéllotmensto Tribal membes,
theapproval of the Tribe’s attorney contracadthe other federal services providedhe Tribe
and its membergp to and including 1934See supré#art 11l.A.2.c The Secretary
determinatiorthat the Cowlitz were “under federal jurisdiction” prior to and including 1984
based on “[a]ll of this evidence, taken togetheh.R. 140484.

Moreoverthe Cowlitz’s rejection oftte proposed treaty does not mean that the Tribe
was not under federal jurisdiction in 1934 anything, the fact thahe Federal Government
ignored the Tribe’s demands and ultimately tdaekriballands without compensation,
corroborates that the Federal Government treated the Cowlitz as thoUgtbéhwas under its
authority. For these reasons, the Court findsSSieretary’sletermination that the Cowlitz Tribe
was “under federal jurisdiction” prior to 1934 wassonabland not in violation othe APA.

Next, Plaintiff’'s contendhat the Cowlitz ould not have been under federal jurisdiction
in 1934 because theailbe's relationship with the Federal Governméad already been

“terminated— as found by the NIGC in its Restored Lands opinion. Grand Ronde Mot. at 22;
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see alscClark Cty. Mot. at 19-20, 24-4@laintiffs insist that terminatiofis the antithesis of
‘Federal jurisdiction™ because it denotes the cessation of federal ssiperand control over an
Indian tribe. Grand Ronde Mot. at Z&e alsdClark Cty Mot. at 21. In response, Defendants
arguethata “termination” inthe NIGC'’s restaed lands opiniomefers to arfadministrative
terminatiori by the Department of Interior under IGRA, which is the statute that the NIGC
interprets in issuing Restored Lands opinion. Such admMministrative terminatioh,
Defendants maintaims different tha aterminationby Congress, which is the only entity that
could legallyterminate federal jurisdiction over a tribe

The Court finds the NIGC'’s Restored Lands opinion to be of questionable value in
determining whether the Cowlitz Tribe wasder federaljurisdiction” in 1934. TieNIGC
determined in itRkestoed Lands opiniomhat the Cowlityualified for the IGRA’s estored
lands exceptiondrausehe Tribehad beengnored by the Department of Interior and the
Department “no longer had a governmemgovernment relationship with the Tribe.” A.R.
8200. In other words, the Cowlitz Tribe was no longer formally recogfiaed“at least the
early 1900s” and was therefateemedterminated’underthe IGRA. A.R. 8199.As the
Secretary explainednodern notions of “federal recognition” and its inverse, “termindtiang
concepts that evolved in the 1970s, after the Department promulgated procedures by which a
tribe could demonstrate its status as an Indian tribe. A.R 140468. Federal courisdsve s
construed the restored lands exception under IGRA so that a cessation of adiwinssraices
by the Department of Interior could amount tdeafactotermination of a tribe. See e.qg.
TOMAC v. Norton 433 F.3d 852, 865 (D.C. Cir. 2006).

Using the NIGC’degal conclusions and findingBlaintiffs argue that the Tribe cannot

be “under fedal jurisdictiori under the IRA, if there was no “govenentto-government
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relationship underlGRA. Such reasoning incorrectly assumes, however, that a govertonent
government relationship, as defined by IGRA and the federal courts intergf@RAg is a
prerequisite to a tribe being “under federal jurisdiction” pursuant to IRA. kamity, under the
Secretary’s interpretation ofihder federal jurisdiction,” the actions or inactions of the
Department of Interioare insufficient to extinguistie jurisdictional relationship between the
federal government and an Indian tribe. In other wdi@engres's constitutional plenary
authority oveffan] Indian tribe[] cannot be divestegVen if the @partment of Interior ignored
thetribe. A.R. 140476. Therefore, a tribe could be “under federal jurisdiction” under the IRA
while lacking a “governmertb-government” relationship undéreIGRA. As noted by the
Defendants, ase law lendsupport tahe Secretary’position. See TOMAQ. Norton 433 F.3d
852, 856 (D.C. Cir. 2006)dciting Congress’s statement tila Pokagon Band “was unfairly
terminated as a result of both faulty and inconsistent administrativeatecentrary to the
intent of Congress, federal Indian law and the trust responsibility of thed &itates”)¢f.
United States v. Johd37 U.S. 634, 653 (1978) (holding thederal jurisdiction existed ovéne
prosecution of @rime that occurred on a reservation despite libveg*‘lapse’in federal
recognition). According to the SecretartheNIGC’s Restored Lands opinion is an
interpretation bthe IGRA and not the IRA, and finding of termination under the IGRA is not
fatal to a finding that th€owlitz were “under federal jurisdictiorgursuant to the IRA. In
reaching this conclusion, the Secretary has exercised her expertise in Ingiariatfonstrue
ambiguous statutory language and in reconciling different approaches takéetantiagencies
as they exercise their resinilities to Indian tribes.

Finally, Plaintiffs contend that the Secretary erred by dismissing osflale evidence

that they claim showthe Cowlitz were notunder federal jurisdiction” in 1934Specifically,
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Plaintiffs point to a 1924tatement invhich the therSecretaryopposedegislation that would
have allowed the Cowlitz to file a claim against the federal government. Tretd®gatated
that that the Cowlitz Indians “are without any tribal organization, generdihggeporting, and
have been absorbed into the body poliit Plaintiffs alsonote a 1933 letter from the
Commissioner Colliedenying enrollment to an individual persortive Cowlitz tribe; in this
letter Collier states that the Cowlitzas not in existence as it did not have a reservation or tribal
funds on deposit under the government’s cortfraClark Cty Mot. at 22.

The Secretargid not ignore thevidencecited by Plaintiffs but rather found that it was
not persuasive in light of the rest of the recaidith respect t&Commissioner Collier's 1933
letter,the Secretary determined ti@dllier's statement that the Cowlitz did not exist was
“conclusory and unsupportecghdthereforeunpersuasive given tlevidenceraised in “the
thorough analysis of the historical record performed for the [Cowlitz’'s 2086Bpadedgment
decision” i.e. evidence that supported that the Cowlitz Tribe was a continuous political entity
throughout the ZDcentury. A.R. 140482.For this same reason, the Secretary discredited the
1924 statemertty the therSecretary of Interior describirige Cowlitz as “without any tribal
organization,” “self-supporting,” and “absorbed into the body politic.” A.R. 140480. Moreover,
the Secretary determined the 1933 letter fwetherundermined by Commissioner Collier’s
statementhe very next yeain 1934, in which henstructsthe localTaholah Superintendent to
enroll any CowlitzZndiansthatwere under his jurisdictioas Cowlitzeven though they had
received an allotment on thauf@ault Reservation. A.R. 14048Zhus, the Secretadid all
thatthe APA requires—she considered the 1933 letter and 1924 statement as well as other

evidence and briefly explained why she remained persuaded thatality of evidence tipped

1 Plaintiffs also point to evidence that the Cowliicked formal recognitiofe. had been

“terminated.” However, as discussed above, the Secretary reasonably conatéeanidl recognition
is not the same as being “under federal jurisdiction.”
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in favor of finding that the CowlitZribe wasunder federal jurisdictionSeeBowen v. Am.
Hosp. Ass'n476 U.S. 610, 626 (1986) (describing an agency’s requirements under APA).
3. Cowlitz’s Membership Numbers

The Cowlitz Tribe increased its tribahembers from 1,482t the timat was first
federally acknowledgenh 2002, to 3,544 members in 2007. Pls. Clark Cty’'s Mot. at 24. Clark
County Plaintiffs argue that the Secretary neglected her duty under 25 C.F.R. 8§ 83.121o confir
thatthe new Tribemembers “maintained social and political ties with the tribe and either
descend from members on the base roll or from the historic tridedt 24. The Secretary’s
failure to do so, Clark County Plaintiffs contend, voidsS$keeretary’decision hat she was
authorized to take the Parcel into trust on behalf of the Cowtitat 27. Among other
arguments? Defendantsounterthat Clark County Plaintiffaever presentetthis argumenét
the administrative levedndhave therefore waiveitl Cowlitz Mot. at 16; Gov’'t Mot. at 34,

n.30. Clark County Plaintiff;isist that theyclearly raised the issue of the Tribe’s greatly
expanded enrollmentit least three timesClark Cty Reply at 16.

“While there are surely limits on the level of congruityured béweena party’s
arguments before an administrative agency and the court, respect foeageruper role in the
Chevronframework requires that the court be particularly careful to ensure tharadesd| to an
agency'’s interpretation of its goveng [laws] are first raised in the administrative forum.”
Koretoff v. Vilsack717 F.3d 394, 397 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (quotBDC v. EPA25 F.3d 1063,

1074 (D.C. Cir. 1994)). Accordingly, courts require that a party in an APA acti@enamalig the

12 Defendants also argue that Clark County Piffénack standing to raise this issue. “Although

standing is usually a threshold inquiry, both the Supreme Court and this Caesiiloimg recognized the
propriety of avoiding difficult, constitutionallpased justiciability issues when a case is monplg
resolved on another basisRailway Labor Executives’ Ass’'n v. United Sta@&7 F.2d 806, 811 (D.C.
Cir. 1993). Because the Court concludes that Clark County Plaintiffsdviliigeissue, the Court does
not decide whether Clark County Plaintiffad standing to challenge the Secretary’s alleged failure to
properly review the Cowlitz membership numbers.
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“specific argument” that was raised to the agency and “not merely the same gegadriaisue.”
Id. “This principle applies to legal, as well as factual, argumeniaridal v. McHugh945 F.
Supp. 2d 111, 129 (D.D.C. 2013) (citiNgiclear Energy Inst. \EPA 373 F.3d 1251, 1290
(D.C. Cir. 2004) (per curium) (“To preserve a legal or factual argument, . . . [a] proponestit
have given the agency fair opportunity to entertain it in the administrative forum before
raising it in the judicial one.”))

Plaintiffs point tocommunications— one newspaper editorial andlegal
correspondences— in which they took issue with the Cowtliz Tribe’s membership iexpans
Clark Cty. Reply at 16. In these communications, Clark County Plaintiffs argaethé BA
had tarnished the integrity of the NEPA process by relying on Cowlitz'Salverstated
membership figuresSeeA.R. 92207; A.R. 86688; A.R. 572. More specifically, the Clark
County Plaintiffs argued that the public should be given an opportunity to pmig@entsand
challenge the membershigures Id. Insofar as Clark County Plaintiffs challenge ithiegrity
of the NEPA process before this Court (arguments which are disansetaillater in this
opinion), such argumengse preserved.

However, Clark County Plaintifisever voiced any concern at the administrative level
that the Secretary'statutory authority to take the land in trust was somehow impugtdibe
she had not reviewdte Cowlitz membershigigures. Nor did he Clark Canty Plaintiffs
previously argue that the Secretary has an ongoing obligation under 25 C.F.R. § 83.1@to revie
a tribe’s membership figures before taking land into trust on the tribe’s bé&halker the waiver
doctrine,Plaintiffs cannot raissuch arguments nowseeNRDC v. EPA25 F.3d 1063, 1074

(D.C. Cir. 1994) (“failure to raise a particular question of statutory consirub&fore an agency
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constitutes waiver of the argument in court,” even if the party had made “atheica, policy,
or legal arguments”).

B. The Secretary Did Not Violate the APA in Concluding that the Parcel Qualiés for
Gaming under the IGRA

As described above, Section 2Qtied IGRA allows gamingon landghatthe Secretary
acquired in trust so long #ise lands aréhetribe’s “initial reservatiori’ 25 U.S.C. §
2719(b)(1)(B)(ii). Because the IGRA does not define “initial reservation,” the Secretary
determinesvhether the tribe meets the “initial reservation” exceptityen she decides to take
land into trust.Citizens Exposing Truth about Casinos v. Kempthot@2 F.3d 460, 462-63
(D.C. Cir. 2007).Under the pertinerdagencyregulations, a land mayualify as an ihitial
reservatioh if, inter alia, it is “within an area where the tribe has significant histbr
connections.” 25 C.F.R. 8§ 292.8. tribe demonstrates “significant historical connectiobg”
presenting historical documentatiojof] the existence of the tribe’s villages, burial grounds,
occupancy or subsistence use in the vicinity of the |ah®5 C.F.R. § 292.2As the Secretary
determined, the regulations do not define the term “vicinity.”

Plaintiffs argue the Secretagyred in her determination that tRarcel is eligible for
gaming under the “initial reservatioekception of the IGRAMore specifically Plaintiffs
contend that the Cowlitz cannot have “significant historical connettiortee Parcel because it
was 14 miles outside of the Cowlitz’s aboriginal territory, the boundaries of wieighdefined

by the Indian Claims Commissi¢tCC).** Grand Ronde Mot. at 33-3dee alscClark Cty at

13 Although not applicable here, a land may also be of “significant histodoaections” if it is

within the boundaries of the tribe’s last reservation. 25 C.F.R. § 292.2.

14 In Plamondon v. United State®l Ind. Cl. Comm. 143 (June 25, 1969), a Cavitibal member
petitioned the ICC to be compensated for Cowlitz lands taken by the United iBt#tie nineteenth
century. A.R. 140501-02; 140507. The tribal member petitioning the ICC was required tcashoat; “
exclusive, and continuous use and occupancy prior to loss of the land in ordeptodensated for a
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30. According to Plaintiffspoth the regulation’s text and the overarching purpose of the IGRA
require the Secretary to interpret “significagtoricalconnection” by considering whethie
tribe has showrilong term” occupancyand use in the land “directly surroundintge Parcel.
Grand Ronde Reply at 36. Plaintiffs further argue that the Secretarytsibtegretation of
“significant historicalconnection™constitutesa wholesale departure” fnothe agency’s prior
decisions. Grand Ronde Mot. at 36.

Defendants counter that the regulations “do not require that the land be previously
‘owned or possessed’ by the tribe, or be at drdar of its historic territory,but rather the
Cowlitz need only show historic use and occupancy in the vicinity of the P&oellitz Reply
at 21. Defendantdurther argughatICC-determinedoundaries cannot demark the lands where
the Cowlitz have “significant connections” because the ICC’s boundardsased ostricter
standardsi,e. a tribe musshow actual, exclusive, and continuous use and occupancy of the land.
Id. at 45-46.Additionally, Defendantsnsist thatthe Secretary’s decisiaa consistenwith the
agency'’s pior decisions that address the “significant historical connections” requiremeet
the IGRA. Id. at 46.

1. The Secretary’s Interpretation of “Significant Historical Connection” Did Not
Contravene thePlain Language of the Regulations or the IGRA’$urpose

The Secretargeterminedhat the Parcel qualifies as the Cowlitz’s “initial reservation
Specifically, the Secretary found thhe Cowlitz Tribehad demonstrated issgnificant
historical connection to the Parcel through evidence that the Tribe had occupied landse
the vicinity of the ParcelROD 126; A.R. 140507. |&ntiffs faultthe Secretary sterpretation

of “significant historicatonnection” as overly broad. According to Plaintifgribe that seeks

taking of their aboriginal titles.” A.R. 140501. After a thorough historicdlaiza the ICC set forth the
boundaries of the Cowlitz aboriginal territory inRREamandordecision. A.R. 131966. These boundaries
excluded the Parcel, which was situated fourteen miles to the dabth©@owlitz aboriginal territory.

A.R. 140502.
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to demonstratés “significant historicatonnections,’must show that iteccupancy or use of the
landwas “longterm” andtook place on the landself or “adjacent” to it, and that the tribad
some “claim of ownership . . . to the land.fa@dRonde Reply at 34However, the plain
language of 25 C.F.R. § 292.2 provides that a tribe seeking an initial reservatiomptimzia

may demonstrate its significant historical connections to the land througmewidethe tribe’s
“occupancy or subsistence use in the vicinity ofitéime.” Theregulation does not requitieat

the occupancy and use theng term” or that the tribe&laim anyownership or control, exclusive
or otherwisepver the land Nor does the regulation require the Cowlitz Tribe to have occupied
or used the Parcet the land adjacent to 1f.

Indeed, during the notice and comment prodasthe rule theagencyspecifically
consideredind rejectedeveral changes the definition of “substantial connection,” which
would havealignedwith the Plaintiffs’ stricér interpretation. One commenter expressed
concern that “the word ‘area,’ as it relates to the term ‘significant histaocalection’ is too
broad,” and sought to limit gaming to ancestral homelands. 73 Fed. Reg. 29,354, £9,360.
refusing to adopt theecommendation, the agency noted that “the actual land to which a tribe has
significant historical connection may not be availablel” Other commentsuggested that “the

significant historical connection requirement should be uninterrupted connectiotioor “s

15 Relatedly, Clark County Plaintiffs argue that the Secretary failed tessldrhether the Parcel
was ‘within an areawhere the Tribe has significant historical connections” because she daefine a
specific area in order to determine that the Parcel falls ‘within’ it."rkGTdy Reply at 30. According to
the Clark County Plaintiffs, the Secretaryswvaquired to use “the combination of historical
connections—>burial grounds, villages, occupancy and subsistence use” to definartistqrarof ‘the
area ‘within’ which a parcel qualifies as an initial reservatidd."at 30-31.

Again, Plaintiffs ae reading in additional requirements to the regulatory language e Wihitext
of 25 C.F.R. 8§ 292.6 requires that the Parcel be “within an area” where thezGwalisignificant
historical connections, the Secretary reasonably interpreted thesto tmt the Cowlitz Tribe needed to
have significant historical connections to the Parcel itself. Towredefining the “parameters” of an
“area” would serve as a useless exercise. Accordingly, the Court rejectguimeeat that the Secretary
erred by notlefining “an area” pursuant to § 292.6. Such an argument masks the real disagreemen
among the parties: the limits of what lands are in the “vicinity” ofthicel under 25 C.F.R. § 292.2.
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historically exclusive usébut the agency rejected both recommendations because such
requirements “would create too large a barrier to tribes in acquamug and they are beyond
the scope of the regulations and inconsistent with IGRA.” In sum,the agencyejected a

more restrictive definition of “gnificanthistoricalconnection” because, among other reasions,
did not comport withthe IGRA.

As the D.C. Circuit explained, the purpose of the “initial reservation” exception is to
“ensur[e] that tribes lacking reservations when the IGRA was enacted arsamhtatitaged
relative to more established one£itizens Exposing Truth about Casind92 F.3d at 467
(D.C. Cir. 2007) (quotingity of Roseville v. Nortqrd48 F.3d 1020, 1030 (D.C. Cir. 2003A.
stricterapproach to defining significant historical connection mayguablyfrustrate this
objectiveby making it more difficult to allow gamingn newly establishedeservationsthereby
hurting the economic developmentr@wly recognized tribes

Plaintiffs argue that the Secretary’s interpretation violates the IGRA|sose because it
“give[s] newly recognized tribes an advantage overgxisting tribes,’since the former can
“choose the location of their land acquisitionsasdo maximize casino revenue.ra@d Ronde
Mot. at 32. Such aargumenmmight persuade the Couftthe Secretary’s test allowetwly
recognized tribes to select their locations without limitatiBut this is hardly the case. Instead,
the Secretaryinvokingher expertise in balancinbe competing interests of newly recognized
and preexisting tribeshas issued regulations requirithiat a newly recognized tribe s@® to
game on its initial reservation mehbteerequirements Specifically, ‘thetribe must demonstrate
the land is located within the State or States where the Indian tribe is nowdlocatand within

an area where the tribe has significant historical connections,” aaswaiplay “one or more . .
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. modern connections to the land,” as defined by the regulation. 25 C.F.R. 392l6a test is
far from the fredor-all scenario that Plaintiffs suggest.

In sum, the plain language of the regulation does not unambiguously require a finding of
“long term” use or occupancy on the land “directly surrounding” the Parcel. Moreawer, t
Secretary’s interpretation does not frustratepingpose of the IGRA and the initisservation
exception Congress left it up to the Secretary’s expertise to determine when a larfeegusedi
an “initial reservatioi SeeTeva Pharms. USA. Inc. v. FDA41 F.3d 1, 5 (D.C. Cir. 2006).
(“It is up to the agency to bring its experience and expertise to bear in lightngketing
interests at stake and make a reasonable policy choice &t 4 (“When a statute is ambiguous,
Congress has left aag for the agency to fill.”). As such, the Court properly defers to the
Secretary’snterpretation.

2. The Secretary Did Not Depart from Prior Decisions in Herinterpretation of
“Significant Historical Connection”

Plaintiffs argue that the Secretary’s decision departs from agency precsidemnthey
claim “had consistently requirgoktitioners to show that their desired gaming site was within
their historical territory.” @&nd Ronde Mot. at 37. In support, Plaintiffs note prior decisions
where the Secretary relied on the location of the gaming site “within territdrihthaxibe ceded
to the United States, settled on, or aboriginally controlled (or some combination lofetbg.t
Id. at 37. Plaintiffs also argue that the Secretary’s prior decistamoits Valley Band of Pomo
Indians requiresthe Cowlitzto demonstrate that its tribedembers used or occupied the Parcel
itself and not just the land Mdiles outside of the Parceld. at 39.

As discussed above, the regulations do not require the Cowlitz to demonstrate that the
Parcel is within the Tribe’s “historical terriig” or that the Tribe used or occupied the Parcel

itself. The regulationsimplyrequire that the Parcel be located within an area where the tribe
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has significant historical connections, which, in turn, can be demonstrated thrbagjhsea or
occupancyof land in the vicinity of the ParceNevertheless, “[i]t is textbook administrative law
that an agency must provide a reasoned explanation for departing from prececdstingy tr
similar situations differently.” West Deptford Energy, LLC v. FERZD14 U.S. App. LEXIS
16406, at *25 (D.C. Cir. August 26, 2014). Therefore, the Court tuinsestigate whethdahe
agencydeparted from itprecedenin deciding that the Cowlitz Parcel qualified as an initial
reservation.

In Scotts Valley Band of Pomo Indiatise agencyglaborated on theegulatorymeaning
of “vicinity,” explaining that tribe’s“subsistence use and occupancy requires something more
than a transient or occasional presence in the aaad,ejecting a definition of vicinity based
solely on the land’s proximity to the parc&oc. 237 at 218-19. The agency explained that
“significant historical connection” may be found even if the “tribe lacksdargct evidence of
actual use or ownership of the parcel itselfl” at 219(“[I ]t would be unduly burdensome and
unrealistic to require a tribe to produce direct evidence of actual use or occupameyon e
parcel within a tribe’s historic use and occupancy area.”). The agency feldberated that

adetermination of whether a particular site with direct evidence of historioruse

occupancy is within the vicinity of newly acquired lands depends on the nature of
the tribe’s historic use and occupancy, whether those circumstances lead to the
natural irference that the tribe used or occupied the newly acquired land. This
analysis is, necessarily, factensive, and will vary based on the unique history
and circumstances of any particular tribe.
Id. at 219, n.59. Thuspontrary to the Plaintiffs’ arguent,the Scotts Valleypinion did not
require the Cowlitz to show direct evidence of historic use or occupancy of tled iBami€, but

rather that the Parcel was in the vicinity of “a particular site with direcepeaof historic use

or occupancy.”
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The Secretary applied ti8xotts Vallewtandard in findinghat the Cowlitz had
demonstratetsignificant historical connectici to the Parcel.A.R. 140507 (quotincotts
Valley). The Secretary begins her analysis by adoptindgGRes findingsthatthe land 14 miles
north of the Parcel was exclusively used and occupied by the Cowlitz. A.R. 140%07.
Secretary explained that the ICC boundaries demarcated an area of exclusiveosse! @aiion
by the Cowlitz, but did not encompass all of the |drad the Tribe historicallpccupied and
used for subsistence. A.R. 140517. Apply8uptts Valleythe Secretary then turnéal “look at
how the Cowlitz Indians used and/or occupied the lands to the south of the exclusive use and
occupancy area determined by the JC&hd ultimately concluded that there was sufficient
evidence of use and occupancy in that area to support the natural inference tbatlitzeu€ed
or occupied the Parcel as weA.R. 140508.

In particular, the Secretafgund the following evidence of the Cowlitz occupancy and
use in the vicinity of the Parctd be credible(1) the Cowlitz’soccupancy, namely hunting
camp sites and “treatyme” villages,at Warrior’s Pointa siteon the Columbia River and only
three miles fomthe Parcel; (2)he Cowlitz reliance on the natural resourceshaf Columbia
Riverfor subsistence use and tra@®); Cowlitz’ “extensive and intensivetfadingactivitiesat
both Bellevue Pointténmiles from the Parcgland the intersection of the Lewis River and

Columbia River three miles from the Pardef® (4) a major battle between the Cowlitz and the

16 The Secretary acknowledged that the agency had préviejescted a trading route as

demonstrating significant historical connections. A.R. 1405145uidiville Band of Pomo Indianshe
agency found that “evidence of the Band’s through a trade route . . . does not demtiresBand’s
subsistence use or occupancy within the vicinity of the Parcel,” becausethsagnmore than evidence
that a tribe merely passed through a particular area is needed to establi#ficargidpistoric connection
to the land.” Doc. 23-4 at 44. The Secretary, however, found that the facts surroundinglitzzssCow
“extensive and intensive trading activities” were “substantial enough totethan ‘a transient presence
in an area,” and rejected the notion t@atidiville had made a brigHine rule that “activities associated
with a trade route or trading activities in general can never constitueneeiof significant historical
connections.” A.R. 140514. The Secretary explained that the Cowlitz’s evisleowed the Tribe had
not “merely passed through the vicinity oét@owlitz Parcel or were a disparate group of traveling
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Chinook at a site three mile®fn the Parcel; (5) historical report about an individual Cowlitz
who used the Lewis River area for subsistence huntibgut 6 miles from the Parge(6) the
fact that Cowlitz were expert boatmen and helped guide large boats gayogids through the
mouth of the Lewis River, less than three miles from the Parceale(i8us information showing
that the Cowlitz occupied the lands in the vicinity of the Parcel. A.R. 140508-517. In making
these findings, the Secretary reviewed and discussed several pieces ofegwbdunding those
materials submitted by Defendants. A.R. 140517. HEueeary’'s analysis and fafthding
adequately supports and explains her conclusion that the Cowlitz had significantdlistor
connections to the Parcel. Under such circumstances, the Court cannot sulssjitd¢grient
for that of the agencyerizonv. FCC 740 F.3d 623, 643-644 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (noting that the
Court must uphold the agencyfattual determinations if on the record as a whole, there is such
relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to supportusiemoncl
(internal citation omitted))Mine Safety and Health Admin. v. Fed. Mine Safety & Health Review
Comm’n 111 F.3d 913, 918 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (“An agency’s conclusion may be supported by
substantial evidence even though a plausible alternative interpretationesideace would
support a contrary view.).

Plaintiffs argue thatheevidence relied on by the Secretaannot satisfy the significant
historical connections requirement because, under agency precedent, the Patoel'withsn
the Cowlitz “historcal” territory, “as opposed to the fringes.” Grand Ronde Mot. at 37.

Plaintiffs specificallytake issue with the fact that the Parcel is 14 miles from the ICC boundaries.

Indians.” A.R. 140513. Because the Secretary offered a reasonable explanatiohya&tidiville was
distinguishable from the Cowlitz’s case, no violation of the APA has occu@edAgra, Inc. vYNLRB
117 F.3d 1435, 1443-44 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (“It is axiomatic that an agency adjudication theisbei
consistent with prior adjudications or offer a reasoned basis for itstalepiom precedent.” (internal
guotations omitted)Manin v. NTSB627 F.3d 1239, 1243 (D.C. Cir. 20{1When an agency departs
from its prior precedemnwithout explanation. . . its judgment cannot be upheld.” (emphasis added)).
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Id. at 38. The Secretaryeasonably explained, howevtrat he ICC boundaries demarked lands
over whichthe Cowlitz hacshown “actual, exclusive, and continuous use and occupauy,”
that while such a strict legal standandas requiredo establish aboriginal title before the ICC, it
was not required to demonstrate “significant historical connections” under thatregsl A.R.
140501-502.

Naturally, if a proposed gaming site falls within a tribe’s aboriginal title ahesa,
Secretary wilhighlightthat fact wherdetermining thaatribe hassignificant historical
connections to theite—i.e., if a tribe can demonstragetual, exclusive, and continuous use and
occupancy, the trib@ill a fortiori meetthe less stringent standard for significant historical
connections, which only requires occupancy or subsistence use in the vicinity oicthd haus,
it is unsurprising thalaintiffs can listseveral prior agency decisions wheregtgnificant
historical connections were found to exist becgusposed gaming site was “within territory
formerly occupied or controlled by [the] tribeSeeGrand Ronde’s Reply at 4table compiling
agency precedentHowever, this does not mean that a tnihestdemonstrate that the proposed
gaming site is within its aboriginal title area in order for the agency to find significstorical
connections with the site. Nor do Plaintiffs pointtmflicting agencyprecedenthat invokes
such degalstandard’ Finally, the Secretary’s decision notes that it had previously determined
thatthe Karuk Tribe of California had established significant historical cdiomsc‘'where the
parcel owned by the Tribe was 38 miles from the tribal headquarters andancdriea of

exclusive use by the tribe.” A.R. 140507.

1 To be sure, Plaintiffs attempt to extrapolate such a rule by highligimentactual findngs of

prior agency decisions where the parcel was in the tribe’s historidtdgr The Court agrees with
Defendants that “Plaintiffs mistakenly emphasize thedpetific differences between the various Indian
land opinions based on each tribe’squs history instead of the legal test that is required to fit within the
initial reservation exception.” Gos Reply at 37.
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For the above stated reasatig Court finds that the Secretargiecision was not
inconsistent with agency precedent, and does not violate the APA in her inteypreta
“significant historical connectiohnor in finding that the Cowlitz had demonstrated the Parcel
gualifiedas an initial reservation under IGRA.

C. Environmental Challenges

Plaintiffsraise a host of challenges regarding the Secretary’s compliaticBlEPA.
The Court first considers whether Grand Ronde has standing to pursue its NEPA afam
then turns to the claims advanced by Clark County Plaintiffs.

1. Grand Ronde LacksStandingto Pursue its NEPA Claims

The Governmenargues that Grand Rondacks standing to raise its NEPA challenges
because it has failed to show a “particularized environmental intefgs¢.'Government
contends that Grand Ronde’s allegatiohfutureeconomidnjury are“insufficient for purposes
of standing under NEPA.” Govt's Mot. at 47-48. To the extent that Grand Ronde is claiming
aesthetic and recreational interests as to the Parcel, the Government arghes¢catd is
devoid of any'evidence as to the manner in which its members view or recreate at or near [the
Parcel],” or of facts regarding the manner in which the proposed federal action would injure
those interests.” Govt’'s Reply at 40.

Grand Ronde argues that it has standing due to “its deep cultural and historic connections
to the land on the north shore of the Colombia River, including Clark County.” Grand Ronde
Reply at 43. More specifically, Grand Ronde states that its “tribal memledsiged in that
area,” and that it “conside Clark County to be part of itfNon-Treaty Homelandsand

“Cultural Interest Lands™® Id. Grand Ronde concludes that it “has important aesthetic and

18 Grand Ronde asserts that the “[Final Environmental Impact Statentsetftf€cognized that

Grand Ronde . . . has significamtitural and histac interests in the parcel.” r@nd RonddReply at 43.
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recreational interests in maintaining its historic ties to thid4amnd in having the land
unaltered’ and that such interests “would unquestionably” be injured by the Cowlitz
development.ld. at 44.

The plaintiff bears the burden of establishihg elements of Article listanding. Lujan
v. Defenders of Wildlife504 U.S. 555, 561 (1992As relevant herea plaintiff raising NEPA
challengesnust demonstrate that it is under threat of suffemm@njury in factthat isconcrete
and particularized.” Summers v. Earth Island Inss55 U.S. 488, 496 (2009) (“deprivation of a
procedural right without some concrete interest that is affected by theateprha procedural
rightin vacue-is insufficient to create Article 11l standingYWhile generalized harm to . . . the
environment will not alone suppotasding, if that harm in fact affects the recreational or even
the mere esthetic interests of the plaintiff, that will sufficBlimmers555 U.S. at 494In
making this showing, the plaintiff cannot restgeneral factual allegations of injury resudfin
from defendant’s conduct, but “must set forth by affidavit or other evidence sdecif.”
Lujan, 504 U.S. at 561.

Grand Ronde refers the Court to two documents highlighting its “historic and tultura
connections to the north shore of the ColumbizeRi A.R. 8616,see alscA.R. 8558-59.The
first document was prepared by Grand Rondeemtitled “The La Center Casino Fiasco: a brief
look at the legal and factual errors fatal to the Cowlitz Casino Projeet @ehter, Washington.”
A.R. 8609. Grand Ronde specifically points the Court to three bullet points which addneds Gra

Ronde’s “historic and cultural connection to the north shore of the Columbia River.” A.R. 8616.

This statement is misleading at best. The FEIS “identified three potgimialtested parties in addition
to the Cowlitz Indian Tribe: the Chehalis Confederated Tribes, the Yakatiarld, and the Shoalwater
Bay Tribe.” A.R. 75977. However, the FEIS explains that the agency reached oahtbR&nde “per
their request to be involved in the Native American consultation ggdc@.R. 75978. Thus, Grand
Ronde cannot claim that the FEIS included them due to their cultural andchiig®itio the Parcel when
the tribe was not even identified as a “potentially interested partyathdr it asked to be involved.
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The first bullet point notethe Willamette Valley Tregtof 1855 which “recognize[s] that bands
to the south of the Colombia River have a legitimate claim to lands on the north shore of the
River.” The next bullet point observes th@rand Ronde’s tribal members are buried at Fort
Vancouver on the north side of the Columbia River in Washingttmh.The last bullet point
states that “Grand Ronde considers Clark County, Washington part of itS'idaty

Homelands’ and ‘Cultural Interest Lands.Id.

The second documetitatGrand Rondérings to the Court’s attentiosa 2007 letter
from Grand Ronde to a Senior Cultural Resources Spe@aiisioyed by Analytical
Environmental Services, a company that assisted in the agency in producing tbargental
Impact StatementA.R. 8558. This letter states that Grand Rdmaehistorical and cultural
connections to the Parcel, and specifically mentions the Willamette Valléy atesady
described above. A.R. 8558.

Assuming arguendthatthese twalocuments sufficiently support Grand Ronde’s
recreational and esthetic intereistshe north side of the Columbia River and Clark County, this
is not enough tdemonstrate particularized, concrete injuin-fact. Grand Ronde does not
provide evidence that shows whether or to what exterdevelopment of the Parcel (which
covers only a part of Clark County) would injure them. As the Supreme Court has repeatedly
made clear, “a plaintiff claiming injury from environmental damage muesthesarea affected
by the challenged activity and not anareughly in the vicinity of it.”Lujan v. Defenders of
Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 565-566 (U.S. 1992) (internal quotations omitted). In other words, the
Court must “assure itself that [Grand Ronde] plan[s] to make use of the spgesfiamon which
projects may take place.Summers555 U.S. at 499. The evidence providiats to

demonstrate Grand Ronde’s interest in the Paimdf. 1d. (explaining that standing “is not an
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ingenious academic exercise in the conceivable but requiresialfalsowingof perceptible
harnt).

Similarly, Grand Rond@eglects tgrovide any evidece— by affidavit or otherwise —
that demonstrates how the proposed action would affect its recreational oc éstlegsts in
the Parcel Instead, Grand Rondemply assertsin its brief that “[a]llowing the Cowlitz to
establish a reservation and build a casino on this site would unquestionably injure [its
recreational and esthetic] interest8.'Grand Ronde Reply at 44. As discussed above, such
generalized, vague notionslodrm do not meet the injury in fact element required for Article 111
standing. Accordingly, the Court holds that Grand Ronde lacks standing to pursue its NEPA
claims.

2. Clark County Plaintiffs’ Environmental Challenges

a. The Secretary Reasonably Reliedn the Environment, Public Health and
SafetyOrdinance

By way of background, in 2004, Clark County and the Cowlitz entered into a
memorandum of understanding (MOU), whereby the County agreed to provide saxrgces (
law enforcement, fire protectioamergency medical services) and in return the Tribe agreed to
abide by Clark County’s codes and ordinances and pay the County to offset Countytaergeendi
and impacts to County revenues. A.R. 140389. However, subsequent litigation unrelated to the
instant casecalled into questiorhe legal enforceability of the MQUd. As a result, the Tribe

enactedan Environment, Public Health and Safety (EPHS) Ordinance in 2607.

19 Grand Ronde refers the Courff@MAC v. Norton193 F. Supp. 2d 182 (D.D. 2002) to
support its argument that injury is “unquestionable.” Indeed, the colionivacfound that the plaintiff
had standing to challenge a proposed casino site. However, in that catanttitspmembers “live[d]
within a few blocks of the o, assert[ed] interests in viewing local wildlife, walking in their
neighborhood, and enjoying their own propertigsl”’at 187. Their properties were “immediately
adjacent to a specific development project that will significantly and pemtigiraler the physical
environment of their neighborhoodldl. at 187, n.1. Unlike here, tAi@maccourt was not left to
speculate whether in fact an interest in the casino property existbariiat interest would be injured.
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According to the Secretarthe EPHS Ordinance:

(i) obligated the Tribe to perform mitigation measures equivalent to those in the

MOU, (ii) grants an irrevocable limited waiver of the Tribe’s sovereign immunity

to Clark County to allow an enforcement action by the County in state court, (iii)

provides that the Tribe will not revoke or modify either the waiver of sovereign

immunity or the environment, health and safety mitigation provisions of the

Ordinance, and (iv) creates a Tribal Enforcement and Compliance Officer

(TECO), whose duty is to ensure implementation and compliance with the EPHS

Ordinance.

A.R. 140389-90. In addition, the Tribe “passed a Gaming Ordinance Amendment that amended
the Tribe’s existing gaming ordinance and incorporated the entire Triba® ER#nance.”

A.R. 140390. The NIGC approved this Gaming Ordinance Amendment in &008.

Eventually, Clark County and the Tribe agreed to rescind the MOU and excluglebn the

EPHS Ordinance and the Gaming Ordinance “to provide the same mitigation of iagpacts
provided in the MOU."Id.

In her decision,ite Secretary concluded that incorporating the EPHS Ordinanteg
Gaming Ordinance Amendment “includes mitigation measures equivalent to thos@the
as part of the Tribe’gaming ordinance, giving the Federal Government enforcement authority to
ensure that the mitigation measures are implementield.Clark CountyPlaintiffs argue thathe
Secretaryacted arbitrarily and capriciousty her conclusion thahe EPHSOrdinance mitigated
the“environmental and jurisdictional impattelated to thd?arcel’'s developmentClark Cty
Mot. at 32. More specificallyClark County Plaintiffs insisthat “the EPHS Ordinance is
revocable and . . . NIGC will not enforce itid. at 37. Furthermoré&lark County Plaintiffs
argue that the Secretariplated the APA by not responding comment@and contrary authority

concerning the NIGC'’s ability and authority to enforce the EPHS Ordinddcat 3637. The

Defendantsespondhat theEPHS Ordinance is irrevocable and enforceadntel therefore th
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Secretanydid not act arbitrarily or capriciously when she relied on the Ordinanclkdor t
mitigation measure$® Gow’s Mot. at 62; Cowlitz Mot. at 54.

The Secretary’s decision explicitly acknowleddgédrk County Plaintiffs’ concerrthat
the EPHSOrdinance “was revocable at the discretion of the Trilakd not provide relief to
Clark County in State Court,” and was unenforceable by NIGC. A.R. 140411kE2S€ekretary
responded to such concerns by highlighting two mechanisms throughshleitiaintains the
EPHSOrdinances enforceable. First, the Secretary found that Clark County could sue for relief
or compliance in State Court becatise Cowlitz Tribehad not only waived its sovereign
immunity in the Ordinance but also reconfirmib@ waiverin theMOU rescission agreement.
A.R. 140412.This is unsatisfactory to Clark County Plaintjfighofault the Secretary for
treating theEPHS Ordinance as a contract instead ‘afralateral and revocablldegislative act.
Clark Cty Mot. at 35.However, “a tribe may voluntarily subject itself to suit by issuing a ‘clear’
waiver’ of its sovereign immunityMarceau v. Blackfeet Hous. Autd55 F.3d 974, 978 (9th
Cir. 2006) (citingC & L Enters., Inc. v. Citizen Band Potawatomi Indian Tribe k532
U.S. 411, 418 (2001))The Secretary’s decision underscoresumaterstandinghat the Cowlitz
had provided such a clear waiver and cannot, therefore, revoke the EPHS Ordinance without
being held accountable in State Court.

Second, the Secierty explainan her decisiorthat“the NIGC has the authority and
ability to enforce” the EPHS Ordinance because jtart ofa Gaming Ordinance and the NIGC

has the power to close the gaming operation. A.R. 140412. Clark County Plaintiffs are

20 Defendants further gue that even if the EPHS Ordinance was revocable and unenforceable,

“NEPA does not require that mitigation discussed in an EIS be enforceablecapédhle of revocation,”
but rather requires only “a reasonably complete discussion of possible mitigeasures.” Gdé's Mot.

at 62; Cowlitz Mot. at 59. As discussed above, the Court finds that the EUSgh8 mitigation measures
in “sufficient detail to ensure that environmental consequences havéalrbeavaluated.”Robertson v.
Methow Valley Citiens Councijl490 U.S. 332, 352 (1989). Under NEPA, no more is requickd.
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concerned that the NIGC lacks the authority to enforce the EPHS Ordinance dithiz Cribe
revokes or amends the Ordinance. A.R. 140412. However, assarguendathat the Cowlitz
Tribe revokes the EPHS Ordinantee regilations wouldallow NIGC to issue a Notice of
Violation which may ultimately result in temporary closure ofdhening operationSee25
C.F.R. 88 573.3-573.4. Moreover, as discussed above, Clark County could itself sue the Tribe in
State Court to prevent such revocation.

While Clark CountyPlaintiffs may havepreferreda more detailed decisipthe Court
finds that the ROD contairssreasonable explanation as to why the Secretary believed the EPHS
was irrevocable and enforcealalled, accordinglyChevrondeference is warrantedMiller v.
Lehman 801 F.2d 492, 497 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (“While the Secretary could have provided a more
detailed explanation of his reasoning, we are required to uphold a decision ofrasedha
clarity if the agency’s gh may reasonably be discerned. In addition, if the necessary
articulation of basis for administrative action can be discerned by reéeterclearly relevant
sources other than a formal statement of reasons, we will make the refefietemal
guotatons and citations omittey)

b. Secretary Considered Reasonable Alternativess Required by NEPA

Clark County Plaintiffs argue that the Seargtviolated NEPA by using “unreasonable
screening criteria” to exclude “reasonable alternatives” to the Pattalk Cty Mot. at 38-39.
According to the Clark County Plaintiffs, the Secretary’s criteria weredstoictive and were
applied unreasonably becawsenthe Parcel did not meet the criterild. at 40. Furthermore,
Clark County Plaintiffs note thalhe Secretargliminated certaimlternatives by claiming that
those sitesould notadequately meet the Cowlitz Trilsedconomic objectivesBut such a

determinationClark County Plaintiffs argueyaserroneous because it whased on th€owlitz
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Tribe’sown assessmeras to itseconomic needand such an assessment was suspecht 41.

Clark County Plaintiffs contenthatthe Secretary faileth conductanindependent evaluaticas

to the Tribe’s enrollment figures and economic needs as required under 40 C.F.R. § 1506.5(a),
and as such failed to make a “full informed and welhsidered” decision as required by

NEPAZ? Id. at 42; Clark Cty Reply at 336.

Defendantsnaintainthat the Secretary complied with NEBAequirements, as the
decision briefly discussebe reasons for eliminating alternatives deemedmpatiblewith the
statedagency’sobjective. Cowlitz Mot. at 49. Furthermofefendantargue thatt was
permissible for the agency to consided accepinformation from the Tribe’s economic
analysispecause an independent review of the Cowlitz economic needs would have been
inappropriate given the Cowlitz’s tribal sovereignty. Govt's Mot. at 52; GpWMot. at 47.
Moreover, the Government argues that 40 C.F.R. 8 1506.5(a) applies only to “environmental
information,”and, thereforedoes not require an independent evaluation of the economic

information supplied by the Cowlitz.

2 In its reply, Clark County Plaintiffs argue that the agency “tinkinjéth [the] purpose and need

statement” after the draft EIS in order to make some alternatives less vitdole Cty Reply at 33. The
Government responds that the changes to the purpose and need statemeimichvtiezhreferences to

the Unmet Needs Report, were made in response to public comments inquirintea/ihycsited further

north could not be analyzed. Govt's Reply at 43.

In City of Grapevine v. Department of Transportatitite petitioners similarly argued that the
Federal Aviation Administration reacted to criticism to the draft EISfgnipulat[ing] the statements of
need angburpose to avoid considering any alternatives except for those thateaalat has been the
FAA’s unmistakable goal from day one.” 17 F.3d 1502, 1506 (D.C. Cir. 1994). The D.C. Circuit
“pass[ed] over the facile implication that the [agency] harbordchproper motive for changing the
statement of purpose in the FEISd. The Circuit explained that “[tlhe very purpose of a DEIS is to
elicit suggestions for change,” and that “[t]he resulting FEIS must baeatgdlfor what it is, not for why
the drafer may have made it sold.

Thus, likeCity of Grapevinethe agency here was permitted to change the purpose and need
statement after the draft EIS. So long as the agency provided a reasongeratosito the alternatives,
NEPA is satisfied.ld. (stating that a “hard look” is all that was required, even when the agency had
changed the purpose statement in reaction to criticism after the draft EIS).
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Courtsreviewanagency’s selection of alternatives under the “rule ofarasvhich
requires “conglerable deference to the agerscgkpertise and policyraking role.” Theodore
Roosevelt Conservation P’ship v. Sala#61 F.3d 66, 73 (D.C. Cir. 2011). Under this
approach, courts “first consider whether the agency has reasonablyiedesntil dahed its
objectives. The agencychoice of alternatives are, then, evaluated in light of these stated
objectives; an alternative is properly excluded from consideration in an envirtainnepact
statement only if it would beeasonable for the agency to conclude that the alternative does not
‘bring about the ends of the federal actionCity of Alexandria v. Slated 98 F.3d 862, 867
(D.C. Cir. 1999). Courts mustjectan “unreasonably narrow” objectivVéhat compels the
selection of a particular alternativeTheodore Roosevelt Conservation P’siei@l F.3d at 73
(quotingCitizens Against Burlingtqrd38 F.2d at 195-96).

Here, theagency’'sreasonhly identified its objectiven its FEIS

to establish a TribaHeadquarters from which [the Cowlitz] Tribal Government

can operate to provide housing, health care and other government services, and

from which it can conduct the economic development necessary to fund these

Tribal Government services and provide employment opportunities for its

members
A.R. 75837. Clark County Plaintiffs and Defendants do not disagree that this broad purpose
statement invite&a very wide range of alternatives.” Clark Cty Mot. af 88eGovt’s Mot. at
51. Indeed, the agency originally identified 19 possible project locations. A.R. 75882.
agencythen appliedspecific criteria to narrow 19 alternatives down to the 11 alternatives that

were deemed feasibfé. Such action was proper, since the agency was only required to consider

feasible alternativesCity of Grapevine v. Department of Transp/ F.3d 1502, 1506 (D.C. Cir.

2 To determine the feasibility, the agency analyzed each of the 19 alternativesisitethe

following factors: 1) Proximity to the% freeway; 2) Contiguous properties forming 20 acres or more; 3)
Contiguous ownership; 4) Availability for purchase; 5) Environmental caingd; 6) Availability of
public services; and 7) Underlying zoning designation. A.R. 75886.
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1994). (“The range of alternatives that the agency must consider is not infiruteireé, but it
does include all “feasible” or “reasonable” alternatives to the proposed actidrheFEIS
discusses each of theaséernatives and briefly providesasons for dismissirgl but one of the
altemativesto the Parcef® A.R. 75882-75886City of Grapevinel7 F.3d at 1506The “rule of
reason governs both which alternatives the agency must discuss, and the extestt tonast
discuss them.”).

Clark County Plaintiffspecifically take issue with the agency’s exclusion of five
alternaive sites that were located farther north than the Pafd¢ed.agency commissioned three
individual market studiesvhich foundthatthesealternative sitesveretoo “inconvenient to both
the Seattle anBortland/Vancouver markets” and therefore could ausquately meet the
economic objectives amikeds of th&@ribal government?* A.R. 75886. Given #t economic
development of the Tribe was the main objective of the project, this explarsapiamly
reasonable SeeCitizens Against Burlingtqrd38 F.2d at 196 (an agency is required to “take into
account the needs and goals of the parties involved in the application”).

NeverthelessClark County Plaintiffs challengle agency’s reasoning because the
Cowlitz’s “economic objectives and needsére measured using the Tribelsn report.

Indeed, the agency adopted the Cowlitz’s self-assessment of its firemttisbcioeconomic
needs; th&tatement of Purposxplicitly refers tothe Cowlitz’s Tribal Business Report (also

referred to as Unmetééds Report)®> A.R. 75837. Again, “ta rule of reasdhguidesthe

23

Along with the Parcel site, the FEIS analyzed the possibility of devetgpmehe “Ridgefield
Interchange Site.”

24 The FEIS also notes that “these alternative sites [were] located in mdréessaeveloped areas

where the potential for adverse impacts would likely be more significanR’ 75886.

% The Cowlitz Tribal Business Report, describes a need of $113 millionlriou@nd its
anticipated Tribal programs for its 3,544 tribal members, 20% of whian@mployedThese Tribal
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Court’s evaluation.Citizens Against Burlingtqrd38 F.2d at 196 (noting that courts evaluate an
agency’s methodology by applying the “rule of reason”). Specifically, thet@hquires

whether the agency acted reasonably in relying on the Cowlitz $isleéreporting as to its
needs.

After reviewing the record on which the agency relied, the Court finds that theyage
actions were@easonableFirst, he Cowlitz's Report is not unreasonably conclusory, but rather
provides a detailed assessment of the Tribe’s current socioeconomic stdtiughtsigribal
programs that either need improvement or are currently not offered, and offergatigeiand
guantitative description of futarribal programs. A.R. 92993- 93018.dditionally, sscond
guessing a tribe’s economic needs and socioeconomic development goals wouid ties
agency undermining the tribe’s sovereignty. Such an outcome would be especiallggroubl
given that theagency perceives its main role in the project as advancing the Tribe’s “self
determination” by “promoting the Tribe’s sejbvernance capability.” A.R. 7583Finally,

Clark County Plaintiffs fail to point to any statute or regulation that would re¢ugr agency to
conduct an independent evaluation of the economic data provided by thezJoive. The

only regulation that Clark County Plaintiffs point to, 40 C.F.R. § 1506.£€q)ijres an agency

to independently evaluaterfivironmentainformation,” not theype ofsocioeconomic
informationthat is at issue herdBecauseClark County Plaintiffs’ interpretation of § 1506.5(a)
would render the term “environmental” superfluous, the Court finds it unpersu&sedmoco

Prod. Co. v. Watsqrd10 F.3d 722, 733 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (instructing courts to “construe a statute

S0 as to give effect to every clause and word” where possidéesuch the Court is persuaded

programs include: Tribal Government, Health Care and Social Servicesnbldakler Care Services,
Education, Cultural Preservation, Transportation, Environment and Natural Resaurd Tribal
Enterprises.
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that the agency’s adoption of the Cowlitz’'s Repaasnot arbitrary or capricious and that the
Secretary acted reasonably in reviewing alternative sites.
c. The Secretary Sufficiently Addressed Water Issué8

By way of background, the East Fork Lewis Riigefthe primary surface water within
thevicinity” of the Parcel. A.R. 75913cCormick Creeks also “within the watershed” in
which the Parcel is located. A.R. 75916. Both of these bodies of avatksted aSimpaired
waters based ortheir fecal coliform numbers and temperature issues. A.R. 75@dGaired
waters are regulated under the Clean Water Act usitg) Maximum Daily Loads (TMDLs) A
TMDL is a calculation othe maximum amount of a pollutant that a water body can receive and
still meetwater quality standards. 33 U.S.C. 8§ 1313(d). Although the East Fork Lewis River is
“currently in the study phase of TMDL development for fecal coliform and teatyer” it lacks
a TMDL to help determine “how much existing pollution needs to be reduced to keep the wate
healthy.” A.R. 75916.

The Clean Water Act prohibits discharge into surface wékershe East Fork Lewis
River and McCormick Creelinless the source has a National Pollution Discharge Elimination
System (NPDES) permitUnder CWA regulations, a NPDES permit cannot be issfifdd
new source or a new discharger, if the discharge from its construction or operitcause or

contribute to the violation of water quality standards.” 40 C.F.R. § 122.4(i). Thus, arguably,

% In addition to water issueSJark County states in a footnote that the FEIS relied on “incorrect

land [use] designation” for the Parcel because it states thatighisihdustrial” when in fact the correct
designation is “agricultural resource lands.” Clark Cty Mot. at 37 n.18.Gblvernment responds that
“[rlegardless of the designation, . . . the FEIS stated the current land tisesiée and in the surrounding
area and described how Cowlitz's proposal would affect those uses.&fdreethe Government
concludes that any change in land designation “did not present any signifisainfarenation bearing

on the proposed action’s impacts.” Govt’s Mot. at 2. Clark County did nottefgte Government’s
argument, and, therefore, the Court treats Clark County Plaintiffsh@ent regarding land designation as
conceded.Buggs v. Powell293 F. Supp. 2d 135, 141 (D.D.C. 2003) & understood in this Circuit that
when a plaintiff files an opposition to a dispositive motion and addressesestdin arguments raised by
thedefendant, a court may treat those arguments that the pltan&tf to address as conceded.”).
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NPDES permit cannot be given to the Cowlitz for tle@isineresort (a new source) unless
TMDLs are developed for the East Fork Lewis River.

Clark County Raintiffs argue that the FEIS’s consideration of water impacts is
inadequate becausedibes not addresgbe “highly likely possibility” that the Cowlitz will be
unable to obtain a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) parthi¢ fo
casinaresort development. Clark Cty Reply at 40; Clark Cty Mot. at 42. Accordingt& Cl
County Plaintiffs, the FEIS cannot “simply state[] that Tie will comply with the Clean
Water Act and NPDES requirements,” but rather, under NEPA, the Secretargenmurstvided
with information assuring her that the environmental impacts on water can beeditiga that
the Cowlitz will be able to complyith the Clean Water Act. Clark County Reply at 41-42.

Defendants respond that the agency satisfied NEPA by taking a “hatdcatdblke water
impacts of the project. Cowlitz Mot. at 51; Gewlot. at 60. The Cowlitz Tribe maintains that
the DEIS “evéuated existing water resources and the potential impacts of the Projaotsen t
resources,” and then the FEIS “reviewed and responded to public comments on the DEIS
analysis and added a supplemental water study.” Cowlitz Mot. at 52. Bintil@ Government
notesthat the FEIS includes the fact that the Cowlitz will need a NPDES permit and that the
FEIS appendices “include extensive reporisvastewater treatment.” Giés/Mot. at 60.
According to the Government, the agency was not required “tadssribe possibility that a
permit could not be obtained and Cowlitz would operate its facilities unlawfully.t’ SReply
at 43.

The critical issue here is whether NEPA requitezl EIS to includeéhe possibility that an
NPDES permit would not be issued. In determining that no such requirement exiswthe C

finds guidance ifRobertson v. Methow Valley Citizens Council etlalthat case, the Forest
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Service had prepared an EIS as part of its decision to issue a-siseqmdrmit for the operation
of a ski area in federal lands. 490 U.S. 332 (1989). The Ninth Circuit found the EIS inadequate
under NEPA because “not only ha[d] the effectiveness of the[] mitigation nesasoiryet been
assessed, but the mitigation measures themselves ha[d] yet to be devdibgindw Valley
Citizens Council v. Regional Forest&33 F.2d 810, 817 (9th Cir. 1987). For instance, the
Ninth Circuit found thatthe EIS's discussion on air quality was inadequate because it included
an air quality management program as a mitigation measure when that programyeddeeh
developed.ld. The Ninth Circuit interpreted NEPA to require “this ¢ypf inquiry and

analysis” before the Forest Servissued the spechailse permit for the skarea. Id. at 818.
Moreover, he Ninth Circuit held that the EESdiscussion concernirtfe impact that the project
would have on a large migratory deer herd was inadetpeatause thstudy on the impacts to

the herd was ongoindd. The Ninth Circuit stated that if the Forest Senheg difficulty
obtaining adequate information to make a reasoned assessment of the environrpaotainm
the herd, it had a duty to make a so calledrst case analysis.ld. at 817-18.

In reversing the Ninth Circuit’s decision, the Supreme Court clarified an agehdies
under NEPA to take a “hard look” at the environmental consequences of a proposdd federa
action. The Supreme Court explained tthaere is a fundamental distinction .between a
requirement that mitigation be discussed iffisigint detail to ensure that environmental
consequences have been fairly eveddaon the one hand, and a substantive requirement that a
complete mitigation plan be actually formulated and adomtiedhe other.”"Robertson v.

Methow Valley Citizens Coaih, 490 U.S. 332, 352-53 (1989). In other words, NEPA does not

“demand the presence of a fully developed plan that will mitigate environrhantabefore an
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agency can act.1d. UnderRobertsonthen, the EIS is not required to discuss the outcome of
mitigation measures

As in RobertsontheEIS herewas not required to provide a full evaluation as to whether
the NPDS permit, a mitigation measunguld issue or predict what would happen in “the worst
case scenarjbi.e., that the Cowlitavould be deniedie permit altogetherld. at 353.

(“Because NEPA imposes no substantive requirement that mitigation meaduedly &e taken,
it should not be read to require agencies to obtain an assurance that third partigsievilent
particular measures.”Neither NEPA nor its regulations requiteet EISto evaluate the
likelihood that permitsvill be obtained by a project applicant. Instead, the EIS needisinly
those permits required addtscuss water impacts “in sufficient detail to ensure that
environmental consequences have been fairly evaltatéd 40 C.F.R. 1502.25(b) (requiring
the draft EIS to list “all Federal permits, licenses, and other entitlements whithenoistained
in implementing the proposal’)t is clear that the FEI® the instant case met these
requirements.

The FEISdescribsthe quality of surface water €., the East Fork Lewis River,
McCormick Creek, and an unnamed stream by the proposed casino seépphingin detailon
fecal coliform, ammonia, turbidity, and temperature conditioh®&. 75913-75918. The FEIS
also thoroughly discussesstewater treatment programs and the expected quality of treated
wastewateragain addressirgnticipated fecatoliform, ammonia, turbidity, and temperature
conditions. A.R. 76082-76085. Moreover, both the draft EIS and li<E¢8 the NPD$ermit
when discussing mitigation measures that the Cowlitz would implenses e.g.A.R. 106594-
106603; 106638; 106651; 106653. UnBebertsonNEPA requires no more for informed

decisionmaking.
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d. Supplemental EISis Not Required

A couple of months after the Secretary issued her ROD, in June 2013, Clark County
“adopted stronger storm water management and erosion control standards thtat albplgw
development, redevelopment, and drainage projects.” Clark Cty Mot. at 45. Clark County
Plaintiffs argue that the FEIS does not addressethieew changes in theWwaregarding storm
water” which would “set a much higher bar for storm water management than adat w
reviewed in the FEIS.IA. at 45. Thus, Clark County Plaintiffs ask that the Court remand and
require the agency to prepare a supplemental EIS. Clark Gtyati43. Defendantsespondhat
the changes to the Clark County Code do not present “changes tojdet pr its resulting
impacts’ and therefore do not warrant supplementation. Govt's Suppl. Responée &hé.
Court agrees with Defendants.

A supplemental EIS is required when “[t]here are significant new circumstances
information relevant to environmental concerns and bearing on the proposed action or its
impacts.” 40 C.F.R. § 1502.9(c)(1)(iiX-hese stormwater changes are not “significhecause
as Defendants point out, local environmental lawksnot apply to the Parcealnce it is accepted
into trust, but rather the Parcel shall be subject onlgderal and tribal environmental la#s.
A.R. 140491.Clark County Plaintiffs insist that the local Code still plays a significant role
becausé¢he Tribe will not be issued a NPDES permit unless it meets Washington’s wdigr qua

standards, which include “stormwater flow conditions similar to those requireldnf C

2 Defendants originally failed to respond to Clark County Plaintiffs’ arguitiiat a supplemental

EIS was necessary. In an effort to provide someitynial this drawn out dispute, the Court ordered
Defendants to respond to Clark County Plaintiff's argum&aeMinute Order (Nov. 12, 2014). The
Court has considered the parties’ supplemental briefing in reachingiggode

2 The Tribe did agre® comply with some local standards when it executed the EPHS
Ordinance/Gaming Ordinance that was discussed earlier. These standadislitiot stormwater law
that was in place in 2004. A.R. 76073.
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County.” Clark Cty PIs.” Mot. at 4-5. However, for the reasons already discussed [d&&\4,
does not require that ti&ecretary evaluate the likelihood that the NPDES permit will isSee.
supraPart 11l.C.2.c. Accordingly, the Court agrees that no supplemental EIS is required under

these circumstances.

IV. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the Court denies Plaintiffs’ mofamrsummary judgment
and grants Defendantstossmotions for summary judgment. An Order consistent with this

Memorandum Opinion is separately and contemporaneously issued.

December 12, 2014
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BARBARA J. ROTHSTEIN
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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